Karolinska Institutet, Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology, Karolinska University Hospital Stockholm, Sweden

Heart failure: Role of metabolic biomarkers, ejection fraction, and sex

Ulrika Ljung Faxén



Stockholm 2018

Heart failure: Role of metabolic biomarkers, ejection fraction, and sex © Ulrika Ljung Faxén 2018 Cover photo: Thyra Brandt Printed by Eprint AB 2018 ISBN 978-91-7831-235-1

To my beloved ones

Be kind, for everyone you meet is fighting a hard battle *Ian MacLaren*

From Karolinska Institutet, Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology, Stockholm, Sweden

Heart failure: Role of metabolic biomarkers, ejection fraction, and sex

by Ulrika Ljung Faxén

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.) AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

som för avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Karolinska Institutet offentligen försvaras i Rolf Luft Auditorium, L1:00, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset Solna, fredagen den 23 november 2018 kl 09.00

Principal Supervisor: Professor Lars H Lund Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology

Co-supervisors: Professor Kerstin Brismar Karolinska Institutet Department of Molecular Medicine and Surgery Division of Growth and Metabolism

PhD Camilla Hage Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology

PhD Gianluigi Savarese Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology

Associate professor Daniel C Andersson Karolinska Institutet Department of Physiology and Pharmacology Opponent:

Professor Hans-Peter Brunner-La Rocca Maastricht University Faculty of Health, Medicine, and Life Sciences

Examination Board: Associate professor Laila Hellgren Uppsala Universitet Department of Surgical Sciences

Associate professor Charlotte Höybye Karolinska Institutet Department of Molecular Medicine and Surgery Division of Metabolism and Growth

Associate professor Kenneth Pehrsson Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine Division of Cardiology

CONTENTS

Sammanfattning	6
Abstract	7
List of original papers	8
Abbreviations	9
Introduction	10
Background	11
Definition of heart failure and role of ejection fraction	11
HFpEF and HFrEF- one disease or two?	12
HFrEF- pathophysiology, risk factors, clinical characteristics, and treatment	12
HFpEF- pathophysiology	13
HFpEF- risk factors, clinical characteristics, and treatment	13
HFmrEF	14
Prognosis in heart failure	14
Patient reported outcomes	14
Role of sex	15
Natriuretic peptides	16
Role of obesity and diabetes	17
Metabolic biomarkers	18
Aims	21
Thesis at a glance	22
Methods	23
Data Sources	22
Instruments for patient reported outcome	24
Statistics	24
Ethical considerations	25
Description of studies	25
Results	27
Study I	27
Study II	30
Study III	33
Study IV	37
General discussion	41
The IGF-1 axis	41
Leptin and adiponectin	42
Treatment targets in HF	43
Patient reported outcome and sex	44
Natriuretic peptides and sex	45
Future perspectives	46
HFrEF, HFpEF and HFmrEF – different challenges	46
Limitations	47
Conclusions	48
Acknowledgements	49
References	51

SAMMANFATTNING

Bakgrund

Hjärtsvikt är en vanlig sjukdom som medför sänkt livskvalitet och stor risk för död. Idag delas hjärtsvikt in i tre typer baserat på andelen blod som pumpas ur vänster kammare vid varje hjärtslag: Hjärtsvikt med bevarad (HFpEF), måttligt sänkt (HFmrEF) och sänkt ejektionsfraktion (HFrEF). Kunskap om hur vi ska behandla patienter med HFpEF och i vilken utsträckning HFpEF och HFrEF skiljer sig åt saknas fortfarande i stor utsträckning. På samma sätt är också kunskapen om eventuella könsskillnader vid hjärtsvikt bristfällig, trots att hälften av patienterna är kvinnor.

Syfte

Att undersöka

- (1) om den hämning av tillväxthormonaxeln som finns hos patienter med HFrEF även förekommer hos patienter med HFpEF.
- (2) nivåer och betydelse av de fetmarelaterade peptiderna leptin och adiponectin hos patienter med HFpEF och HFrEF.
- (3) potentiella könsskillnader i livskvalitet hos patienter med HFpEF.
- (4) potentiella könsskillnader i nivåer av och prognostisk betydelse av hjärtsviktshormonet Nterminal pro natriuretisk peptid typ B (NT-proBNP) vid kronisk hjärtsvikt

Resultat

Hämning av tillväxtfaktorhormonaxeln

Vid analys av Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) och dess bindarprotein (IGFBP-1) fann vi att både HFpEF och HFrEF uppvisade en hämning av tillväxtfaktorhormonaxeln mätt som förhöjda nivåer av IGFBP-1. Förhöjda nivåer av IGFBP-1 var också associerade med förhöjt NT-proBNP eller grad av hjärtsvikt. Emellertid verkade hämningen av tillväxtfaktorhormonaxeln vara mer uttalad i HFrEF och sänkta nivåer av IGF-1 var associerade med sämre prognos enbart hos patienter med HFrEF.

Fetmarelaterade leptin och adiponectin

Vid analys av leptin och adiponectin fann vi förhöjda nivåer av dessa i både HFpEF och HFrEF. Emellertid uppvisade endast HFrEF den så kallade fetmaparadoxen, d.v.s. att förhöjda nivåer av leptin är associerade med bättre prognos. Fynden talar för att HFpEF har en mer konventionell riskprofil avseende leptin och fetma.

Livskvalitet hos kvinnor och män med HFpEF

Vi fann att både kvinnor och män med HFpEF har sänkt livskvalitet. Kvinnorna rapporterade dock sämre generell livskvalitet och associationen mellan livskvalitet och grad av hjärtsvikt var svagare hos kvinnor. En koppling mellan sänkt livskvalitet och sämre prognos fanns endast hos män. Fynden talar för att sänkt livskvalitet hos kvinnor i stor utsträckning förklaras av andra faktorer än hjärtsvikten i sig vilket bör beaktas i eftersträvan att förbättra patienternas livskvalitet.

Betydelse av kön för nivåer av svikthormon vid olika hjärtsviktstyper

Nivåer av svikthormonet NT-proBNP var högre hos kvinnor än hos män i alla de undersökta hjärtsviktstyperna. Faktorer relaterade till nivåer av NT-proBNP och associationen mellan förhöjda nivåer och prognos var emellertid likartade. Detta stödjer att NT-proBNP kan användas för prognostisering av hjärtsvikt oaktat kön, men betydelsen av de relativt stora könsskillnaderna i nivåer hos patienter med HFpEF och låga NT-proBNP nivåer behöver utvärderas.

Slutsats

HFpEF och HFrEF uppvisar väsentliga likheter och skillnader relaterade till metabolism, hormonnivåer och kön. Betydelsen av detta avseende sjukdomsutveckling och eventuell behandling återstår att undersöka.

ABSTRACT

Background

Heart failure (HF) is common and associated with impaired quality of life (QoL) and poor prognosis. There is a ternary classification of HF based on ejection fraction (EF): HF with preserved(HFpEF), mid-range EF(HFmrEF), and reduced EF(HFrEF). How to treat the syndrome of HFpEF, and the extent to which HFpEF and HFrEF are similar, still remain elusive. Likewise, despite the fact that half of the patients with HF are women, the role of sex in HF is often overlooked.

Aims

- (1) To investigate whether HFpEF and HFrEF share features of anabolic impairment regarding insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and IGF binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1).
- (2) To assess levels of the obesity related peptides, leptin and adiponectin, and whether the obesity paradox exists in HFpEF.
- (3) To investigate potential sex-specific differences in QoL in HFpEF.
- (4) To assess the impact of sex on N-terminal B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) in chronic HF across the EF spectrum.

Results

The IGF-1 axis in HFpEF and HFrEF

Serum IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 concentrations and their associations with other biomarkers and outcomes were analysed in patients with HFpEF and HFrEF. IGF-1 concentrations were lower and associated with poor prognosis in HFrEF only. However, IGFBP-1 was increased and associated with NT-proBNP in both HF phenotypes. This suggests inhibition of the IGF-1-axis in both syndromes and a possible mechanistic link between IGFBP-1 and natriuretic peptides in HF.

Leptin and adiponectin in HFpEF and HFrEF

Serum leptin and adiponectin concentrations and their associations with other biomarkers and outcomes in patients with HFpEF and HFrEF were analysed. Our findings indicate that the two HF phenotypes share elevated levels of leptin and adiponectin. The obesity paradox regarding leptin, with higher levels being associated with better outcome was nevertheless only demonstrated in HFrEF, pointing towards a more conventional metabolic profile in HFpEF.

Sex and quality of life in HFpEF

We assessed QoL in HFpEF through generic and HF specific QoL instruments. Women with HFpEF express worse global QoL than men. Overall, QoL was only weakly associated with measures of HF severity and the associations were weaker in women. In men only, poor QoL was associated with worse outcome. Overall, this suggests, that in order to improve QoL in HFpEF patients, in particular in women, other factors than HF must be addressed.

Impact of sex on NT-proBNP across HF phenotypes

We analysed concentrations of NT-proBNP, and associations with clinical characteristics and outcomes in the three HF phenotypes, by sex. Women with chronic HF across the entire EF spectrum have higher NT-proBNP concentrations than men. However, associations between NT-proBNP concentrations and clinical characteristics as well as outcomes are largely similar. This supports the current use of NT-proBNP for prognostic purposes across HF phenotypes but the impact of sex-differences in the lower NT-proBNP range warrants further investigation.

Conclusion

HFpEF and HFrEF display important similarities and differences related to metabolic biomarkers, natriuretic peptides, and sex. The impact of these factors on the pathogenesis of and in manifest HF, and as potential therapeutic targets warrants further investigation.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

- I. HFpEF and HFrEF display different phenotypes as assessed by IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 Faxén UL, Hage C, Benson L, Zabarovskaja S, Andreasson A, Donal E, Daubert JC, Linde C, Brismar K, Lund LH, Journal of Cardiac Failure, 2017, Apr, 23(4):293-303
- II. HFpEF and HFrEF exhibit different phenotypes as assessed by leptin and adiponectin Faxén UL, Hage C, Andreasson A, Donal E, Daubert JC, Linde C, Brismar K, Lund LH, International Journal of Cardiology, 2017 Feb 1; 228 709-716
- III. Patient reported outcome in HFpEF: Sex-specific differences in quality of life and association with outcome *Faxén UL, Hage C, Donal E, Daubert JC, Linde C, Lund LH,* International Journal of Cardiology, 2018, 267 128-232
- IV. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in chronic heart failure: The impact of sex across the ejection fraction spectrum *Faxén UL, Strömberg A, Dahlström U, Andersson DC, Lund LH, Savarese G,* Manuscript

ABBREVIATIONS

BMI	body mass index
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
CAD	coronary artery disease
CI	confidence interval
cGMP	cyclic guanosine mono phosphate
EF	left ventricular ejection fraction
eGFR	estimated glomerular filtration rate
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
EQ-5D	EuroQoL 5 dimensions
EQ-VAS	EuroQoL visual analogue scale
HF	heart failure
GH	growth hormone
HFmrEF	heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HFpEF	heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction
HOMA-IR	homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance
HR	hazard ratio
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IGFBP-1	insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1
IHD	ischemic heart disease
KaRen	Karolinska-Rennes
KCCQ	Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire
ln	natural logarithm
LV	left ventricular
NT-proBNP	N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide
NO	nitric oxide
NP	natriuretic peptide
MLHFQ	Minnesota Living With Heart Failure Questionnaire
NYHA	New York Heart Association
OR	odds ratio
PRO	patient reported outcome
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SD	standard deviation
SGLT-2	sodium-glucose co-transporter-2
SNS	sympathetic nervous system
T2DM	diabetes type 2
QoL	quality of life

INTRODUCTION

Heart failure (HF) is a common syndrome and affecting 2% of the Western population, 10% above the age of 65 and up to 20% above 75 years¹. World-wide, more than 26 million people are living with HF and it is associated with poor quality (QoL) of life as well as high morbidity and mortality². The global, overall, annual cost of HF has been estimated to \$108 billon³, but is expected to triple between 2010 and 2030 due to increased prevalence of sedentary life style and aging of the population⁴.

Despite decades of success-stories in HF-therapy with neurohormonal antagonists, use of devices, and lately enhancement of adaptive hormonal pathways⁵, there is still no evidence based therapy for almost half of the patients suffering from HF. Considering the global burden of the disease, there is an urgent need to expand the understanding of the syndrome, to find new treatment targets, and to develop therapies improving not only survival, but also patient reported outcome (PRO)⁶.

About half of the patients living with HF are women. The risk of developing HF, the phenotypic expression of the HF syndrome, outcome and response to therapy are different in men and women⁷. Furthermore, diseases associated with HF, such as obesity, diabetes, and hypertension are known to affect women and men differently⁸. Women are still underrepresented in clinical trials and both preclinical and clinical research are still mainly performed in males or without sex-specific analyses⁹.

Against this background, with the overall aim of improving the understanding of heterogeneous syndrome of HF, this thesis addresses biomarkers related to HF, PRO, and the role of sex across the ejection fraction (EF) spectrum.

BACKGROUND

Definition of heart failure and role of ejection fraction

According to the definition by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), HF is "*a clinical syndrome characterized by typical symptoms* (e.g. breathlessness, ankle swelling and fatigue) that may be accompanied by signs (e.g. elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles and peripheral edema) caused by a structural and/or functional cardiac abnormality, resulting in a reduced cardiac output and/or elevated intracardiac pressures at rest or during stress"¹⁰. Physiologically this means that the heart is unable to meet the metabolic demands at rest or during pressures.

Normal filling of the heart in diastole and adequate ejection of blood in systole are essential for cardiac performance. Thus both diastolic and systolic function as well as vascular compliance must be maintained for a normal cardiac function. However, HF research and therapy have for long focused on systolic dysfunction, partly due to the widespread use of low left ventricular (LV) EF for diagnosing HF in clinical practice. When studies in the early 2000 demonstrated a bimodal distribution of EF among HF patients^{11,12}, the paradigm of using EF to categorize HF evolved. In 2016, the ESC guidelines on HF proposed a ternary classification of chronic HF: HF with preserved (HFpEF), mid-range (HFmrEF), and reduced EF (HFrEF), characterized by $EF \ge 50\%$, 40-49%, and <40% respectively. Apart from signs and symptoms of HF and EF, the diagnosis of HFmrEF and HFpEF also requires elevated natriuretic peptides (NPs) and relevant structural or functional heart disease such as LV hypertrophy, left atrial enlargement, and/or diastolic dysfunction. Since diastolic dysfunction can exist throughout the EF spectrum, and since systolic function is not necessarily normal in HFpEF, the old nomenclature of systolic and diastolic HF is no longer used¹⁰.

Depending on cohort analyzed, about half of the HF patients have HFrEF, and the remaining HFmrEF or HFpEF^{11,13,14}, **Figure 1**.



HFpEF and HFrEF- one disease or two?

It has been debated whether HFpEF is indeed the same disease as HFrEF with different EF, or whether the two, despite similar symptoms and signs, are actually pathophysiologically different. The prevailing view is that in HFrEF an initial injury (index event), e.g. myocardial infarction, leads to loss of myocardial function. This in turn triggers maladaptive neuro-hormonal activation, myocardial remodeling including LV dilatation, and eccentric hypertrophy leading to manifest HF. In contrast, in HFpEF a comorbidity driven inflammatory state leads to endothelial damage and microvascular dysfunction through decreased nitric oxide (NO) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), **Figure 2**. Ultimately this results in concentric LV remodeling and reduced myocardial compliance. The bimodal distribution of EF, the lack of benefit in HFpEF of the neurohormonal antagonists, and different macroscopic and myocellular patterns of LV remodeling support this paradigm. Furthermore, the disease progression, comorbidity profile, and the sex-distribution are different in HFpEF compared with HFrEF^{11,15}.

The introduction of HFmrEF to the European HF guidelines in 2016 was made to dichotomize between "true" HFrEF or HFpEF and the "grey or mixed area" between these syndromes. This is considered important in terms of etiology, demographics, co-morbidities, response to therapies, and design of interventional trials¹⁰.



HFrEF- pathophysiology, risk factors, clinical characteristics, and treatment

As described, HFrEF is caused by a direct injury or disease state affecting the myocardium, leading to reduced LV contractility. About 2/3 of HFrEF cases are caused by ischemic heart disease (IHD). Other primarily cardiac aetiologies include cardiomyopathies, myocarditis,

and valvular diseases. Extra-cardiac causes of HFrEF are abundant, including endocrine disorders, systemic inflammatory diseases, alcohol- or drug-abuse, or toxic reactions. Important risk factors are IHD, diabetes, smoking, and hypertension¹⁶.

The initial myocardial injury reduces cardiac output, which leads to compensatory neurohormonal activation to preserve oxygen delivery. These mechanisms include activation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS). While these mechanisms initially are adaptive, they become maladaptive in long term, leading to cardiac remodeling with eccentric hypertrophy, LV dilatation, and cardiomyocyte dysfunction. This will further reduce cardiac output, and creates the vicious circle of worsening HF. The basis of HF therapy involves inhibiting these neurohormonal pathways with β -blockers and RAAS-inhibitors. Moreover, adaptive responses in HF can also be targeted, such as with the inhibition of the enzyme neprilysin, that increases the bioavailability of presumably cardioprotective NPs^{10,17}.

HFpEF- pathophysiology

HFpEF is characterized by multiple impairments in ventricular diastolic and systolic function, vascular function, and reserve capacity¹⁸. The pathophysiological hypothesis is that common non-cardiac diseases, such as hypertension, obesity, diabetes type 2 (T2DM), anemia, pulmonary disease, or chronic kidney disease induce a pro-inflammatory state. This leads to endothelial dysfunction, microvascular inflammation, recruitment of immune cells, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and lower bioavailability of NO resulting in microvascular dysfunction and cardiac remodeling^{15,19,20}. The pluricellularity of the heart and the important role of other cell-types than cardiomyocytes, such as endothelial cells, immune cells, cardiac stem cells, and fibroblasts are recognized. In particular, the role of the microvascular endothelial cells is stressed, both as a sensor of the local environment in the heart and in the bloodstream and as an effector in endothelium derived signaling, affecting adjacent cells. Apart from NO, a plethora of small molecules, peptides, and proteins such as prostacyclin, angiotensin-II, endothelin, growth-factors, and inflammatory cytokines are involved in this complex cellular crosstalk²¹.

The diastolic dysfunction in HFpEF is linked to both myocyte hypertrophy and passive stiffness due to fibrosis and phosphorylation of titin, as well as impaired active relaxation^{15,22-24}.

HFpEF- risk factors, clinical characteristics, and treatment

Patients with HFpEF tend to be older and to have a higher prevalence of obesity, hypertension, and atrial fibrillation compared with patients with HFrEF^{14,16,25}. The aging population and the increase in prevalence of comorbidities are leading to a growth in prevalence of HFpEF by 10% per decade¹⁸.

In contrast to HFrEF, there is a female predominance in HFpEF²⁶ and there seem to be sex specific traits in cardiac structure and function making women more prone to develop HFpEF with aging. Arterial stiffening is greater in women and women appear more disposed to develop concentric LV remodeling with pressure overload^{8,27}. In HFpEF, diastolic impairment is also more pronounced in women²⁸.

There is currently no evidenced based therapy for patients with HFpEF. Contrary to expectations, conventional neuro-hormonal antagonists, like β -blockers and RAAS-blockade have not been convincingly efficient²⁹⁻³². Numerous novel interventions, such as sildenafil, organic or inorganic nitrates, and soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators have been studied but have generally failed or not yet been convincingly proven efficient³³. Reasons for the lack of success might be the heterogeneity of HFpEF and the failure to match treatment with phenotype, disease stage, and severity^{6,34-37}. Furthermore, only a minority of patients presenting to hospitals and clinics are actual candidates for interventional trials with strict selection criteria, there is also a concern about the generalizability of trial results³⁶. As such, HFpEF is considered one of the major challenges in contemporary cardiology³⁸.

HFmrEF

The middle HF phenotype, HFmrEF was introduced not because of a suspicion of it being a pathophysiologically unique HF phenotype, but rather due to the heterogeneity of the group, the possible transition of patients from one EF category to another, the imprecise EF measure, and to stimulate and refine research^{10,39,40}. Between 13 and 24% percent of patients in population based studies of HF have HFmrEF. On group level, HFmrEF seem to be in between HFpEF and HFrEF regarding age-, sex- and comorbidity-profile, with the important exception of IHD, regarding which HFmrEF is more similar to HFrEF^{14,41-44}. In post-hoc analyses, patients with HFmrEF also seem to respond to conventional HF therapy in a similar way as HFrEF^{45,46}.

Prognosis in heart failure

HF is associated with high mortality. The prognosis in HFpEF is appears to be slightly better than in HFrEF²⁵. Similar prognosis across the EF spectrum has been reported from the American *Get With the Guidelines* registry with a one-year mortality of 37,5 vs, 35.1 vs 35.6% after acute HF hospitalization in HFrEF, HFmrEF, and HFpEF respectively. Hospital readmission rates were nevertheless higher in HFrEF and HFmrEF vs. HFpEF; 30.9 and 28.4 vs. 24.3 % ⁴⁷. In chronic HF, 1-year mortality in Europe was higher in HFrEF (8.8%) vs. HFpEF (6.3%), with HFmrEF intermediate (7.6%)⁴⁴. In a Swedish cohort of a mix of in- and outpatients, crude 1-year mortality was 15% in HFrEF, 14% in HFmrEF, and 17% in HFpEF¹⁴.

Patient reported outcomes

While focus in interventions in HF, in particular clinical trials, for long has been on reducing "hard endpoints", like mortality or rehospitalization, a holistic approach to HF care, including patient satisfaction and PRO is now emphasized⁴⁸. The Food and Drug Administration even stresses the use of PRO as a clinical trial endpoint⁴⁹.

It is well established that patients with HFrEF experience impaired QoL, and women with HFrEF report lower QoL than men^{7,50}. As in HFrEF, QoL is impaired in HFpEF and has been associated with poor prognosis⁵⁰⁻⁵³. There is a substantial variability in QoL, independent of HF severity, and impaired QoL in patients with HF appears largely explained by other factors

than HF itself^{52,54}. Furthermore, while poor QoL is associated with poor outcomes, improved QoL in the trial setting is often linked to better outcome⁵⁵.

There are several instruments for assessment of QoL, both HF-specific focusing on disease specific impairments, and generic instruments. Disease specific instruments may be preferred to generic when assessing specific treatment effects. Generic instruments provide a broader assessment of QoL, rather than the impact of a particular disease⁵⁶. The most highly ranked and commonly used HF specific instruments are Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire (KCCQ), Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ), and Chronic Heart Failure Questionnaire⁵⁷. All three have a good reliability (internal consistency, test-retest reliability, and interrater reliability) and validity. The choice of instrument depends rather on the setting in which they are used, since for example their qualities regarding forms of administration (KCCQ and MLHFQ can be self-administered) and sensitivity to change differ (KCCQ and Chronic Heart Failure Questionnaire are superior to MLHFQ)⁵⁷.

Commonly used generic QoL instruments are Short-Form 36 Health Survey, the Sickness Impact Profile, and the EuroQoL 5D (EQ-5D)⁵⁶.

Role of sex

Half of the patients living with HF are women and the prevalence of HF in adults in the United States between 2011-2014 was 2.4% in men vs. 2.6% in women¹. While women are diagnosed with HF later in life, the overall lifetime risk is about 20% in both sexes⁷. Both in HFrEF and HFpEF/HFmrEF, prognosis is better for women, despite lower QoL and greater functional impairment in women^{7,25,58,59}.

While men are overrepresented in HFrEF, women are more likely to develop HFpEF²⁶. Sexspecific differences in cardiac structure and function and the loss of protective estrogen after menopause are possible explanations²⁷. As mentioned, ventricular arterial stiffening is greater in women and women more likely develop concentric LV remodeling with pressure overload^{8,27}. The diastolic dysfunction is also more pronounced in women with HFpEF²⁸.

Furthermore, comorbidities related to HF seem to affect women and men differently and women with diabetes or hypertension have a higher risk of developing HF than men^{8,60}. Autoimmune diseases and iron-deficiency, that are related to HF and inflammation, are also more common among women. In addition, pregnancy related disorders like preeclampsia are evidently unique for women⁸, **Figure 3**.

The evidence-based treatment for HFrEF is largely based on trials where women have been underrepresented with a fraction of women below 30%^{7,61}. In HFpEF, evidence based therapy is lacking, but despite the high prevalence of HFpEF among women, women are often excluded from trials, likely due to higher age or comorbidity burden^{61,62}. When hospitalized for HF, women are equally likely to receive diuretics, but less likely to be treated with vasoactive therapy and evidence-based oral therapy⁶³.



Natriuretic peptides

The NP family includes a large number of peptides and peptide fragments, e.g. A-type NP, B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), and C-type NP⁶⁴. While they all seem to contribute to the adaptive neurohormonal system in HF, the most well-known and clinically used is BNP, or the cleaving fragment of the pro-hormone, N-terminal-proBNP(NT-proBNP)^{65,66}.

In the healthy state, BNP is mainly secreted in the atria, whereas with increased ventricular wall stress in HF, secretion is shifted to the ventricle. BNP acts through the NP-receptor A, a guanylate-cyclase receptor, and activation leads to increased formation of cyclic guanosine mono-phosphate (cGMP). The actions of BNP counteracts the activation of the RAAS and SNS by causing vasodilation, natriuresis, and opposing adverse remodeling^{64,67}. NT-proBNP is produced in equimolar amounts as BNP, but exists in higher plasma concentrations due to longer half-life. The biologic role of NT-proBNP, if any, is not known. However, due to a longer half-life and stability in vitro, NT-proBNP is widely used instead of BNP to measure BNP activity⁶⁷.

The use of NPs is well established for diagnostic^{10,68-70} and prognostic^{13,71-73} purposes in HF. NPs are also used for trial selection purposes and as surrogate outcomes in both acute and chronic HF trials, although the latter has not convincingly been shown to translate into better outcomes⁷⁴. Considering their adaptive effects in HF, they are used and investigated as treatment targets^{17,64} and for guidance of therapy^{43,75-77}.

Low NPs are considered to have a strong negative predictive value in excluding HF¹⁰, although normal BNP is indeed found in patients with HFpEF despite increased filling pressures⁷⁸. Levels of BNP/NT-proBNP are higher in HFrEF compared to HFmrEF and HFpEF⁷⁹. High levels are associated with severity of HF and poor prognosis in both the acute and chronic setting across all EF phenotypes⁷⁹⁻⁸¹.

Females, both healthy and with acute decompensated HF, have higher NP concentrations than men, which may at least partially be explained by sex-hormones, i.e. higher oestrogen levels ⁸²⁻⁸⁵. Nevertheless, despite higher concentrations in females with acute HF, the short term prognostic ability of BNP is similar in both sexes across the EF spectrum¹³. In contrast, in chronic HF higher⁸⁶, similar²⁸, and lower ⁵⁹ NT-proBNP concentrations are reported in females vs. males. Likewise regarding long term prognosis, data is diverging and a mix of EF phenotypes limits the interpretation⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹. In chronic HF, population based studies are lacking but in the trial setting of mixed HFpEF/HFmrEF, data supports similar prognostic power in females and males⁵⁹.

Role of obesity and diabetes

Obesity and T2DM are not only risk factors for IHD and HFrEF, but may also participate in the pathogenesis of HFpEF through low grade inflammation and microvascular disease^{15,90-92}, **Figure 4**. The adipose tissue is highly metabolically active through the excretion of both pro-



17

and anti-inflammatory mediators or *adipokines*, such as leptin or adiponectin. In addition, the adipose tissue is involved in the NP clearance via secretion of neprilysin and expression of the degradation receptor, NP receptor C⁹³. Obesity also leads to increased aldosterone levels, both through RAAS activation, through adipokine induced adrenal stimulation, and through direct production of aldosterone from adipose tissue^{92,94}. Moreover, obesity and insulin-resistance lead to oxidative stress and an imbalance in the somatotropic axis, thereby further amplifying the cardio-metabolic risk-profile⁹⁵.

Despite being a risk factor for incident HF, obesity is associated with better prognosis in manifest HFrEF, referred to as the obesity paradox^{96,97}. Whether the obesity paradox manifests a subgroup of patients with better reserve capacity or less severe disease, or if there is a mechanistic link between better prognosis and obesity is not clear⁹⁸.

Metabolic biomarkers

Insulin-like growth factor 1

Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) is a peptide hormone, structurally similar to insulin, produced in most cells. Circulating IGF-1 is mainly produced in the liver. IGF-1 is the effector peptide of GH acting through the IGF-1 receptor which resembles the insulin-receptor. In addition to metabolic and anabolic effects, IGF-1 stimulates myocardial contractility and has anti-inflammatory effects ^{99,100}. IGF-1 levels are mainly reduced in HFrEF¹⁰⁰, but normal¹⁰¹ or even increased concentrations have been reported in less severe HF¹⁰². These discrepancies are not fully understood, but are possibly explained by IGF-1 concentrations being dependent on age, severity of HF, and assay variability¹⁰⁰.

In HFrEF, lower IGF-1 concentrations are associated with a catabolic state with cytokine activation, endothelial dysfunction, adverse remodeling, impaired skeletal muscle function, and worse outcomes¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. IGF-1 is believed to exert inotropic actions through increased intracellular Ca²⁺ transients and sensitivity, and through a shift in myosin isoforms. Thus, suppression of IGF-1 production or inhibition of IGF-1 could contribute to HF severity in HFrEF^{100,106}. Moreover, administration of GH in HFrEF increases IGF-1 and improves myocardial function and cardiac output¹⁰⁰.

Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1

In general, decreased IGF-1 activity may be secondary to impaired GH-secretion, GH resistance, increased inhibition of IGF-1, malnutrition, or insulin-deficiency¹⁰⁰. The activity of IGF-1 is tightly regulated by insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs) where IGFBP-1 is considered particularly important for IGF-1 activity regulation. Although present in much lower concentrations than IGFBP-3, IGFBP-1 is usually unsaturated and has a high diurnal variability and thereby accounts for the greatest changes in IGF-1 activity. IGFBP-1 has numerous IGF-1 inhibitory actions such as peripheral binding of IGF-1, potent inhibition of IGF-1 at receptor level¹⁰⁷, and inhibition of IGF-1 production in the liver, independently of insulin^{108,109}.

The role of IGFBP-1 besides regulation of IGF-1 is still largely unexplored. IGFBP-1 may even potentiate the effects of IGF-1¹⁰⁷ and it may also have IGF-1 independent actions¹¹⁰.

While obesity and peripheral insulin resistance are associated with lower IGFBP-1, high IGFBP-1 is associated with female sex, older age, lower body mass index (BMI), and lower levels of insulin¹¹¹. Oxidative stress, hypoxia, inflammation, stress hormones, malnutrition, and insulin deficiency, all of which may be present in, and have a role in the evolution of both HFrEF and HFpEF, increase IGFBP-1¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴. Increased levels of IGFBP-1 have been described in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and during congestion IGF-1 decreased and IGFBP-1 increased¹¹⁵. Although higher levels of IGFBP-1 are associated with a favorable lipid-profile, absence of insulin resistance, and female sex; high levels of IGFBP-1 have been associated with risk for incident HF¹¹¹. Furthermore, high levels of IGFBP-1 have been associated with hospitalization for HF after myocardial infarction¹¹⁶.

Adipokines- leptin and adiponectin

Leptin and adiponectin are cytokines, commonly referred to as *adipokines*, secreted mainly by the adipose tissue. In obesity, there is hyperleptinemia and levels of adiponectin are reduced. Leptin regulates satiety and is considered proinflammatory. In contrast, adiponectin is regarded as cardioprotective in reducing oxidative stress and inflammation, both in the heart and the vasculature. Hence, higher adiponectin levels in healthy individuals are associated with a favourable cardiovascular risk profile^{117,118}.

The role of leptin and adiponectin in HF is complex. As obesity, leptin and adiponectin can behave paradoxically in HF. Despite a catabolic state, leptin may be elevated¹¹⁹ and higher concentrations of leptin are associated with better prognosis in HFrEF¹²⁰. Correspondingly, higher levels of adiponectin are, despite the presumed beneficial effects of adiponectin, associated with worse outcomes in HF. This is sometimes referred to as the adiponectin paradox¹²¹.

Leptin

Although mainly produced by adipocytes, leptin is also found in various cell types such as cardiomyocytes and smooth muscle cells. High levels of leptin are associated with obesity, hypertension and insulin resistance¹¹⁷. Besides metabolic effects, leptin has various cardiovascular effects. Leptin mediates positive inotropic and chronotropic effects through central SNS stimulation and RAAS activation¹²². Leptin is also believed modulate vascular function via stimulation of endothelial NO-synthesis. However, in hyperleptinemia, there is a reduced response to leptin through interaction with inflammatory biomarkers, resulting in inhibition of the NO generating effect of leptin¹²³. This suggests a link between leptin resistance, inflammation and endothelial dysfunction^{122,123}.

Elevated plasma leptin has been reported in established HFrEF^{119,124}. High concentrations of leptin have also been associated with arterial stiffness¹²⁵. Additionally, an association between leptin and diastolic dysfunction in the general population and in patients with CAD has been described^{126,127}. Interestingly, this association was more prominent in women. Hence, leptin is believed to play a role in the pathogenesis of HFpEF^{128,129}.

Adiponectin

Adiponectin, existing as polymers, is abundantly present in plasma and the highest levels are found in lean subjects. Similarly to leptin, women have higher adiponectin levels than men¹¹⁸.

Low levels of adiponectin are associated with comorbidities related to HF like obesity, insulin resistance, and hypertension. Adiponectin is considered a marker of, or potentially even a factor effectuating, cardio-protection¹³⁰. Adiponectin deficiency leads to hypertension, LV hypertrophy, diastolic dysfunction, and, in the presence of pressure overload, cardiovascular alterations resembling HFpEF in experimental models¹³¹. Correspondingly, overexpression of adiponectin attenuates cardiac remodeling¹³⁰.

In HFpEF adiponectin is still poorly studied, although experimental data support adiponectin deficiency in the pathogenesis of HFpEF^{130,131}. An association between diastolic dysfunction and lower adiponectin concentrations was found in a small study of patients with EF >50% and mild HFpEF¹³², similar to findings in patients with CAD^{133,134}.

Despite low adiponectin levels being associated with the evolution of HF, adiponectin levels are increased and associated with poor prognosis in manifest HFrEF¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. The reason for the adiponectin paradox in HFrEF is not well known but adiponectin concentrations are positively associated with severity of HF and NP concentrations in congestive HF^{135,137}. Furthermore NPs increase the production of adiponectin in adipocytes from HF patients ¹³⁸ and adiponectin resistance has been described in HFrEF¹³⁹.

AIMS

The overall aim was to investigate metabolic biomarkers and the impact of sex regarding PRO and NPs across the ejection fraction spectrum in patients with HF with particular focus on HFpEF.

Specific aims were:

To investigate whether the impairment of the IGF-1 axis shown in HFrEF exists also in HFpEF through assessment of IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 (Study I).

To investigate leptin and adiponectin concentrations and their prognostic associations in HFpEF and HFrEF, and whether the obesity paradox is present in HFpEF (Study II).

To assess potential sex differences in PROs in HFpEF, including the associations with HF severity and outcomes (Study III).

To assess the impact of sex on NT-proBNP concentrations and prognosis in HF across the ejection fraction spectrum (Study IV).

THESIS AT A GLANCE

Study	Ι	II	III	IV	
Aim	To assess if HFpEF and HFrEF share features of anabolic impairment regarding IGF-1 and IGFBP-1	To assess levels of leptin and adiponectin and whether the obesity paradox exists in HFpEF	To investigate potential sex-specific differences in PROs in HFpEF	To assess the impact of sex on concentrations of NT-proBNP, and associations with clinical characteristics and outcomes of high NT-proBNP across the HF phenotypes	
Design	Prospective	observational cohort	studies	Registry based cohort study	
Time of data collection	HFpEF: 2007-2011 HFrEF: 2009-2014		2007-2011	2000-2012	
Data source	KaRen, MetAnEnd, Hälsa Ohälsa		KaRen	SwedeHF	
Study population	Chronic HFpEF, HFrEF and controls from the normal population		Chronic HFpEF	Chronic HF across the EF spectrum	
Patients	300 85 HFpEF 79 HFrEF 136 Controls	234 84 HFpEF 79 HFrEF 71 Controls	378 HFpEF	15,849 1811 HFpEF 2122 HFmrEF 5914 HFrEF	
Outcomes	HFpEF: HF hospitalization or death HFrEF: Transplantation, LV assist device, or death		HF hospitalization or death	 HF hospitalization or death All-cause death 	
Main statistical analyses	ANCOVA, Pearson's correlation, Kaplan Meyer, Cox regression		Spearman's correlation, Cox Regression	Logistic regression, Kaplan Meyer, Cox Regression	
Results/ Conclusion	Both HF phenotypes share impairment in the IGF-1 axis through increased IGFBP-1. IGF-1 was lower and associated with outcomes in HFrEF only.	HFpEF and HFrEF share elevated leptin and adiponectin, but the obesity paradox regarding leptin could only be confirmed in HFrEF.	Females express worse general QoL. Poor QoL seems less explained by HF in females and was associated with worse outcome in males only.	Despite higher concentrations in females, determinants of concentrations and association with prognosis were similar in females and males.	

METHODS

Data sources

Study I-III the Karolinska Rennes

The Karolinska Rennes study (KaRen) was an observational, prospective, multicentre study conducted in France and Sweden during 2007-2011. The primary aim was to investigate the prevalence and prognostic role of electrical dys-synchrony in HFpEF. Predefined sub-studies were echocardiography, cardiopulmonary exercise testing, serological biomarkers, and PRO.

Patients were included at hospitalization for acute decompensated HFpEF and inclusion criteria were: (1) Acute presentation with clinical signs and symptoms of HF according to the Framingham criteria; (2) LVEF \geq 45 % by echocardiography during the first 72 h; and (3) BNP >100pg/mL or NT-proBNP >300pg/mL. The aim was to study a real-life cohort of HFpEF and the exclusion criteria were mainly factors which prevented the patients from completing the study. Key exclusion criteria were: evidence of primary hypertrophic or restrictive cardiomyopathy or infiltrative heart disease, isolated right HF, pericardial constriction, chronic pulmonary disease requiring oxygen, end-stage renal disease requiring dialysis, and anticipated or indication for cardiac surgery or percutaneous intervention. Patients were scheduled for a follow up visit in stable state 4-8 weeks after the acute presentation and were then followed for at least 18 months. In total 539 patients were included and 438 patients attended the follow up visit. The primary outcome was hospitalization for HF or all-cause death¹⁴⁰.

In **Study I** and **II** only patients from the pre-specified KaRen biomarker study were investigated and for **Study III** all patients with complete PRO assessment at the follow up visit were included.

Study I-II MetAnEnd

Patients with HFrEF, were obtained from the Metabolic Anabolic Endothelial Function Heart Failure study cohort (MetAnEnd-HF) at Karolinska University Hospital. Between January 2009 and September 2014, patients with advanced HF and EF <40% referred to the hospital were included in MetAnEnd-HF. Exclusion criteria were only inability to participate or participation in a pharmacological intervention study. The patients were followed prospectively and the composite endpoint was all-cause death, implantation of LV assist device, or heart transplantation. Information regarding vital status, implantation of LV assist device or heart transplantation was obtained from patient charts and the Population Register in December 2014.

Study I-II Hälsa Ohälsa

The control population for the biomarker studies was obtained from the Hälsa Ohälsa study conducted in 1995- 1998. In the study, individuals aged 18 and above from the general population were randomly selected through their personal identification number for a questionnaire study concerning health. Of these, 488 again randomly selected, individuals across age-groups were invited to a medical examination including biomarker analysis. Individuals free from self-reported cardiovascular disease or known hypertension were included as controls in **Study I** and **H**^{118,141}.

Study IV- the Swedish Heart Failure Registry

The Swedish Heart Failure Registry (SwedeHF, www.swedehf.se) is a national quality registry founded in 2000. It covers almost 90% of the hospitals and about 10% of primary care

centres in Sweden. The inclusion criterion is "*Clinician–judged HF*". About 80 variables are recorded at discharge from hospital or after outpatient clinic visit in a web-based case report form, managed by Uppsala Clinical Research Center, Uppsala, Sweden (www.ucr. uu.se). In about 90% of the registrations, EF is reported categorized as <30, 30-39, 40-49, and \geq 50 %, enabling differentiation between the three different HF phenotypes¹⁴². To obtain outcome data the registry is linked to The Population and the Patient Registries administered by The Swedish Board of Health and Welfare (www.socialstyrelsen.se), through the Swedish personal identification number.

Instruments for patient reported outcome

The EQ-5D-3L is a generic QoL instrument. Part one is descriptive with five dimensions; mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. There are three response options for each dimension (no problems, some problems, and extreme problems). Part two is the EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale (EQ-VAS), which records the patient's self-rated global health on a VAS-scale. The endpoints are labelled "Worst imaginable health state" (0) and "Best Imaginable Health State" (100). Hence higher values of EQ-VAS denotes better QoL¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵.

The MLHFQ is a HF specific instrument. Totally 21 items cover the effects on QoL of functional limitations, symptoms, and psychological reactions associated with HF or HF treatment. The response options range from no limitation (0) to very much limited (5). A total score of 0-105 is given and a higher score will indicate worse QoL^{146,147}.

Statistics

Data are displayed as counts (%) and median and interquartile range (IQR), except for **Study III** where mean and standard deviation (SD) were used for normally distributed, continuous baseline characteristics. Continuous variables were analysed with non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test or Kruskal-Wallis, or t-test as appropriate. Proportions were compared with Fisher's exact test or Chi²-test depending on frequency distribution.

Biomarker data in **Study I** and **II** and QoL data in **Study III** were analysed by the analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with adjustment for clinically relevant variables. Associations were assessed by Pearson's (**Study I-II**) and Spearman's correlations (**Study III**), and with multivariable logistic regression (**Study IV**). Unadjusted survivor functions were estimated through the Kaplan-Meier method (**Study IV**), and associations with outcomes were analysed with Cox Proportional Hazards models (**Study I-IV**). Results from regression models are presented as odds ratio (OR) or hazard ratio (HR) as appropriate and 95% confidence interval (CI). To test significant differences between sexes in **Study IV**, interaction terms between sex and the other variables considered was included in the multivariable models regression models. The presence of missing data in **Study IV** was addressed through multiple imputation with chained equations (n=10), run in blocks defined according to HF type and sex. The statistical significance level was set to 0.05 in all analyses except for correlations in **Study I** and **II** where the α -level was set to 0.003 and 0.002 respectively due to multiple analyses (Bonferroni adjustment). All- p-values were 2-sided.

Statistical analyses were performed in IBM SPSS Statistics, version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) (**Study I and II**) and Stata 14.1 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas) (**Study III-IV**).

Ethical considerations

All the studies were performed in accordance with good clinical practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki and all patients provided written informed consent¹⁴⁸. For registration in SwedeHF, individual consent is not required but the patients are informed and able to opt out. The establishment of SwedeHF and all studies in this thesis were approved by ethical committees in Sweden.

Description of studies

Study I

Aim

To investigate concentrations of IGF-1 and IGFBP-1, associations of these with HF severity and outcomes, and whether impairment of the IGF-1 axis in HFrEF exists also in HFpEF.

Patients

Patients with HFpEF from the KaRen study (n=85), with HFrEF from MetAnEnd-HF (n=79), and individuals without self-reported cardiovascular disease aged 40 years and above from the Hälsa Ohälsa study (n=136) were included in the analysis.

Methods

The patients were examined and underwent echocardiography in stable state. Fasting blood samples were collected in and IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 analyses performed by in-house radioimmuno-assays. Of note, due to the age-dependency of IGF-1 (decreasing concentrations with increasing age), age adjusted IGF-1 SD-score was calculated based on the regression of IGF-1 concentrations in healthy¹⁴⁹. Concentrations of IGF-1 and IGFBP-1, as well as their associations with other relevant biomarkers and outcomes were assessed.

Endpoints

For HFpEF time to HF hospitalization or all-cause death, for HFrEF time to implantation of LV assist device, heart transplantation, or all-cause death.

Study II

Aim

To investigate concentrations of leptin and adiponectin, associations with HF severity and outcomes and whether the reverse metabolic profile is present in HFpEF as in HFrEF.

Patients

Patients with HFpEF from the KaRen study (n=84), patients with HFrEF from MetAnEnd-HF (n=79), and individuals aged 60 years or above without self-reported cardiovascular from the Hälsa Ohälsa study (n=71) were included in the analysis.

Methods

The patients were examined and underwent echocardiography in stable state. Fasting blood samples were collected and leptin and adiponectin analyses were performed by radio-immunoassays Merck Millipore® (HL-81 K and HADP-61K). Concentrations of leptin and adiponectin and their associations with other relevant biomarkers and outcomes were assessed.

Endpoints

For HFpEF time to HF hospitalization or all-cause death, for HFrEF time to implantation of LV assist device, heart transplantation, or all-cause death.

Study III

Aim

To assess PRO in HFpEF and potential sex differences.

Patients

Of the 539 patients included in KaRen, 438 patients attended the follow up visit. Of these 387 patients had complete assessments of PRO. Since the KaRen study was designed prior to the new definition of HFpEF, 9 patients with EF < 50% were excluded, and the remaining 378 patients were analysed.

Methods

The patients underwent clinical examination, ECG, and echocardiography at the 4-8 weeks visit in stable state. Two validated PRO instruments were used, the generic EQ-5D-3L and the HF-specific MLHFQ. Self-reported QoL was assessed and the associations of QoL with HF severity and outcomes.

Endpoint

Time to first HF hospitalization or all-cause death.

Study IV

Aim

To assess the impact of sex on NT-proBNP concentrations, associations between clinical characteristics and high NT-proBNP, and the associations with outcomes in HFpEF, HFmrEF, and HFrEF.

Patients

Between May 11th 2000 and December 31st 2012, 36,255 outpatient registrations were recorded in SwedeHF. Excluding patients with missing EF, follow up <1 day, missing NT-proBNP, and repeated registrations left 9847 patients for analysis. In the case of more than one registration, the first assessment was considered.

Methods

Concentrations of NT-proBNP were assessed in females and males in all EF phenotypes respectively. Associations between NT-proBNP above the median in females and males in each HF-type, and clinical characteristics and outcomes were investigated. The majority of health facilities in Sweden use the NT-proBNP analysis by Roche Diagnostics, Bromma, Sweden (www.equalis.se).

Endpoints

The primary endpoint was time to HF hospitalization or all-cause death and the secondary endpoint time to all-cause death. End of follow-up was December 31st 2012.

RESULTS

Study I

Baseline characteristics

Compared with HFrEF, patients with HFpEF were older, more commonly female, with lower NYHA class, better renal function, higher BMI, and lower NT-proBNP. There were no statistically significant differences in comorbidities although numerically IHD, defined as previous coronary artery by-pass grafting and percutaneous coronary intervention, was more common in HFrEF. Use of neurohormonal antagonists and diuretics were more common in HFrEF, whereas calcium channel blockers were more common in HFpEF. Selected baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1. The controls were younger and had lower BMI compared with the HF patients. Blood pressure and sex ratio in controls were similar to in HFpEF.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the patients in Study I expressed as median and lower and upper						
quartiles and numbers and percentage.						
				p-value		
	HFpEF n=85	HFrEF n=79	Control n=136	HFpEF: HFrEF	HFpEF: control	HFrEF: control
Age years	73 (67;79)	64 (52;69)	58 (49;66)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.018
Female	44 (52)	13 (16)	68 (50)	< 0.001	0.890	< 0.001
NYHA I II III IV	19(22) 46(54) 20 (24) 0	1 (1) 4 (5) 65 (82) 9(11)		<0.001		
BMI kg/m ²	28 (25;33)	27 (23;30)	25 (23;27)	0.036	< 0.001	0.017
Systolic blood pressure mmHg	140 (128;153)	108 (96;122)	137 (126;149)	< 0.001	0.100	< 0.001
Pulse pressure mmHg	65 (50;75)	39 (30;50)	50 (43;60)	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
EF %	64 (55;68)	22 (15;28)		< 0.001		
NT-proBNP pg/mL	983 (463;2303)	3425 (1333;5988)		< 0.001		
HOMA-IR	3.5 (2.0;5.9)	2.6 (1.4;5.3)	2.0 (1.3;2.8)	0.250	< 0.001	0.004
eGFR mL/min/1.73m ²	66 (51;80)	54 (39;66)	76 (68;85)	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.001
Hemoglobin g/L	13.1 (12.2;14.1)	13.3 (12.2;14.4)	14.3 (13.5;15.2)	0.497	< 0.001	< 0.001

Concentrations of IGF-1

Median (IQR) concentrations of IGF-1 were: 173 (137-207) in HFpEF vs. 149 (105-219) in HFrEF vs. 163 (133-205) µg/L in controls (p overall= 0.002). Age adjusted IGF-1 SD-scores were 1.21 (0.57-1.96) vs. 0.09 (-1.40–1.62) vs. 0.22 (-0.47-0.96) arbitrary units, respectively (p overall <0.001). Concentrations and pair-wise comparisons are shown in Figure 5, and in men only in Figure 6. The difference between IGF-1 concentrations in HFpEF and HFrEF was significant also after adjustment for sex, BMI, insulin, and NYHA class (p=0.032).

In patients with functional class NYHA II-III age adjusted IGF-1 SD-scores were 1,31 (0.70-2.28) in HFpEF (n=66) vs. 0. 24 (-1.32-1.65) in HFrEF (n=69) (p<0.001 crude and p=0.012 adjusted for sex, BMI, and insulin).

Concentrations of IGFBP-1

In HFpEF and HFrEF, IGFBP-1 was increased compared to controls. Median (IQR) IGFBP-1 was 48 (28-79) μ g/L in HFpEF vs. 65 (29-101) in HFrEF vs. 27 (14-35) in controls (p overall <0.001). When adjusted for age, sex, BMI, and insulin; IGFBP-1 remained significantly higher in HFrEF and HFpEF compared to controls (p <0.001 for both), but lower in HFpEF compared to HFrEF (p=0.021). When adding NYHA class to the model as a marker of HF severity, the difference between HFpEF and HFrEF was no longer significant (p=0.451). Coherently, in patients with NYHA class II-III, levels of IGFBP-1 were similar in HFpEF 48 (28-78) and HFrEF 60 (29-91) (unadjusted p=0.369 and adjusted for sex, age, BMI, and insulin, p=0.262), **Figure 5**.

The analyses of IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 were repeated in men only. The findings were largely similar, except that no measure of IGF-1 significantly differed between patients with HFpEF and controls, **Figure 6**.



Figure 5. Concentrations of IGF-1 (A), IGFBP-1 (C), and age-adjusted IGF-1 SD score (B) in HFpEF, HFrEF, and controls. P denotes crude comparisons between groups.



Associations with HF-severity

There was a negative association between IGF-1 and IGFBP-1 in HFpEF (r=-0.390, p<0.001); and approaching significance in HFrEF (r=-0.320, p=0.004, α -level 0.003). There was no significant association between IGF-1 and age, NT-proBNP, or estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) in neither HFpEF nor HFrEF. In contrast, NT-proBNP and IGFBP-1 were associated in both HFpEF (r= 0.458, p<0.001) and HFrEF (r=0.533, p<0.001). In both HFpEF and HFrEF; IGFBP-1 was associated with insulin (r=-0.430, p<0.001; and r=-0.383, p=0.001). Results in men only were similar. Selected correlations are shown in **Figure 7**.

Associations with outcomes

Median (IQR) follow-up time was 576 (468-1349) days in HFpEF and 403 (195-992) days in HFrEF. The endpoint occurred in 35 (41%) patients with HFpEF of which 6 patients (17%) died and 29 (83%) were hospitalized for HF. Corresponding data for HFrEF was 50 (63%) events, of which 27 (54%) were deaths and 23 (46%) implantation of LV assist device or heart transplantation.

Hazard ratios per *ln* unit increase in IGF-1, IGF-1 SD-score and IGFBP-1 for the composite endpoints in HFpEF and HFrEF respectively are shown in **Figure 8**. In HFpEF, there was no association between baseline IGF-1 or IGF-1 SD-score and outcomes, in uni- or multivariable analyses. In HFrEF, higher IGF-1, and likewise higher age-adjusted as SD-score, was associated with better outcome.

Regarding IGFBP-1 there were no associations with outcomes in neither HFpEF nor HFrEF. Results in men were similar.





Figure 8. Association between IGF-1 (crude and age adjusted SD-score), IGFBP-1, and NT-proBNP with the composites of HF hospitalization or death in HFpEF and implantation of LV assist device, heart transplantation, or death in HFrEF. Insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and HF severity, measured as NT-proBNP, were adjusted for in the multivariable models.

Study II

Baseline characteristics

Compared to HFrEF, patients with HFpEF were, as in **Study I**, older (median 73 vs. 64 years, p<0.001), more commonly female (52 vs 16%, p<0.001), and in lower NYHA class. Patients with HFpEF also had better renal function, higher BMI, and lower NT-proBNP (median 966 vs. 3425 pg/mL, p<0.001). Regarding comorbidities there were no statistically significant differences but previous coronary artery by-pass grafting and percutaneous coronary intervention were numerically more common in HFrEF, as in **Study I**. Therapy also differed between HFpEF and HFrEF similar to in **Study I**.

The controls were in between HFpEF and HFrEF regarding age (median 67 years). BMI was lower in controls compared to in HFpEF, whereas similar to in HFrEF. Considering the controls did not have known hypertension, surprisingly they had higher blood pressure compared to both HF phenotypes. Median systolic blood pressure was 140 mmHg in HFpEF vs. 108 in HFrEF vs. 165 in controls (p for all comparisons <0.001).

Concentrations of leptin

Leptin concentrations were median (IQR) 23.1 (10.2-51.0) in HFpEF vs. 15.0 (6.2-33.2) in HFrEF vs. 10.8 (5.4-18.9) ng/mL in controls (p overall <0.001). Concentrations of leptin were

higher in HFpEF than in HFrEF (p=0.007), however there was no difference between the HF groups when adjusted for sex, BMI, and age (p=0.123), nor when NYHA class was added to the model as adjustment for HF severity (p=0.834). Results in men only were similar.

Concentrations of adiponectin

Crude levels of adiponectin did not differ between groups, 11.8 (7.9-20.1) μ g/L in HFpEF vs. 13.7 (7.0-21.1) in HFrEF vs. 10.5 (7.4-15.1) in controls (p overall 0.159). There was no significant difference between the HF groups crude or adjusted for age, sex, BMI, and NYHA class. In analyses of men only, adiponectin, adjusted for BMI and age, was higher in both HFpEF (p=0.044) and HFrEF (p=0.001) compared to in controls. Absolute concentrations and adjusted pair-wise comparisons for the entire cohort and men separately, are shown in **Figure 9**.



Figure 9. Crude levels of leptin and adiponectin in the entire (a+c) cohort and men only (b+d). P for pairwise comparisons and overall, adjusted for age, sex, and BMI (a+c), and for age and BMI (b+d).

Associations with biomarkers

In all groups, leptin was positively associated with BMI (HFpEF r=0.740, HFrEF r=0.595, and controls r=0.593, p for all <0.001). Similarly, there was a positive association between leptin and insulin (HFpEF r=0.685, HFrEF r=0.487, and controls r=0.358 p <0.001 for all). In HFrEF only, there was a significant association of leptin with NT-proBNP(r=0.364 p=0.001).

Adiponectin showed an inverse association with BMI in the heart failure groups (r=-0.386 p<0.001 in HFpEF and r=-0.379 p=0.001 in HFrEF), but not in controls (r=-0.154 p=0.202). In HFrEF, adiponectin was associated with with NT-proBNP (r=0.396 p<0.001), however not in HFpEF considering the adjusted α -level of 0.002 (r=0.238, p=0.030), **Figure 10 a-d**.



Associations with outcomes

Median follow-up time (IQR) was 572 (467-1369) days in HFpEF and 402 (196-873) days in HFrEF. The endpoint occurred in 34 (40%) patients with HFpEF of which 6 patients (18%) died and 28 (82%) were hospitalized for HF. Corresponding data in HFrEF were 50 (63%) events, of which 27 (54%) were deaths and 23 (46%) received LV assist device or were transplanted. **Figure 11** shows HRs per unit *ln* increase in leptin and adiponectin in HFpEF and HFrEF for the composite endpoints.



Figure 11. Association between leptin, adiponectin, NT-proBNP, and BMI and the composites of HF hospitalization or death in HFpEF and implantation of LV assist device, heart transplantation, or death in HFrEF.

High leptin levels were associated with reduced the risk of the composite endpoint in HFrEF only, both crude and adjusted for age and sex. When adjusting for HF severity by including NT-proBNP in the model, the association was no longer significant.

While there was no association between adiponectin and the composite outcome in HFpEF, hihger adiponectin was associated increased risk in HFrEF after adjustment for age and sex, HR 2.88 (95% CI 1.02-8.14, p=0.045). The association was however not independent of HF severity.

Study III

Baseline characteristics

A total of 378 patients were included in the analyses, **Figure 12**. Of these, 215 were women (57%). Women were older and had higher EF. There were also signs of higher filling pressures, measured as E/e' in women. Levels of NT-proBNP were similar, median (IQR), 1408 (507-2369) vs. 1480 (611-2840) ng/L (p=0.17). In contrast, in the cohort of patients where BNP was assessed (n=35), BNP levels were higher in women than in men, median (IQR), 301 (229-476) vs. 108 (98- 570) ng/L (p=0.041). Kidney function, was similar in both sexes.

Comorbidities were no different across sexes except for women having a lower prevalence of CAD (27 vs. 38%, p=0.016), and anaemia (35 vs. 51%, p=0.004). Therapy did not differ between sexes. Baseline characteristics are shown in **Table 2**.



Table 2. Baseline characteristics by sex, **Study 3**. To include both BNP and NT-proBNP in the multivariable analyses, quartiles were calculated based on the entire population. For NT-proBNP: Q1 <532, Q2 532-1438, Q3 1439-2641, and Q4 >2641ng/L; and for BNP: Q1 <125, Q2 125-277, Q3 278-570, and >570 ng/L.

		Female	Male	p-value	
Clinical data, mean (SD)	n	215	163		
Age (years)		77 (9)	75 (9)	0.014	
EF (%)		64 (7)	62 (6)	0.005	
E/e'		14 (7)	11 (5)	< 0.001	
SBP (mmHg)		137 (24)	139 (24)	0.45	
BMI (kg/m ²)		29 (7)	29 (5)	0.93	
NYHA class, n (%)	Ι	17 (9)	27 (17)	- 0.009	
	II	132 (68)	90 (57)		
	III	45 (23)	34 (22)		
	IV	1 (0.5)	6 (4)		
Biochemistry, median(IQR)					
Haemoglobin (g/L)		125 (110, 132)	129 (110, 139)	0.13	
eGFR CKDEPI (mL/min)		74 (66, 80)	72 (65, 83)	0.97	
NT-proBNP (ng/L) n=312		1408 (507, 2369)	1480 (611, 2840)	0.17	
BNP (ng/L) n=35		301 (229, 476)	108 (98, 570)	0.041	
Comorbidities, n (%)					
CAD		58 (27)	62 (38)	0.022	
Atrial fibrillation or flutter		132 (61)	107 (67)	0.34	
Hypertension		173 (81)	128 (79)	0.64	
COPD		29 (14)	24 (15)	0.73	
T2DM		55 (26)	45 (28)	0.66	
Anaemia		68 (35)	78 (51)	0.004	
Treatment, n (%)					
ACEi or ARB		155 (71)	114 (70)	0.98	
Potassium sparing diuretic		49 (23)	42 (26)	0.48	
Loop diuretic		170 (80)	132 (82)	0.56	
Calcium channel blocker		57 (27)	43 (27)	0.99	
β-blocker		149 (69)	115 (71)	0.72	

SBP, systolic blood pressure; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ACEi, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin receptor blocker.

Quality of life

Women expressed more difficulties than men related to mobility (53 vs. 41%, p=0.019), usual activities (46 vs. 33%, p=0.013), and anxiety and depression (51 vs. 39%, p=0.013) in EQ-5D-3L. Self-care (22 vs. 17%, p=0.230), and pain/discomfort (60 vs. 53%, p=0.179) were not significantly different. In EQ-VAS, women rated worse global QoL than men [mean (SD), 57 (20) vs. 61 (19), p=0.027]. After adjustment for age and NPs the difference was still significant (p=0.010). When, instead, adjusting for age and NYHA class, there was only a trend towards statistical significance (p=0.056). MLHFQ was similar in women and men, [mean (SD), 31(21) vs. 29 (21), p=0.329], Figure 13.



Associations between quality of life and markers of HF severity

Both instruments were associated with HF severity measured as NYHA class and as levels of NPs. Spearman's correlations between MLHFQ and NYHA class were in women; $r_s 0.37$ vs. in men 0.41, p for both <0.001. Corresponding data for the associations between MLHFQ and quartiles of NPs were in women; $r_s 0.21$, p=0.003 vs. in men 0.27, p<0.001. The associations of EQ-VAS with NYHA class were in women $r_s -0.28$, p<0.001 and in men $r_s -0.45$, p<0.001, and for EQ-VAS and NPs, $r_c -0.17$, p=0.018 in women and $r_s = -0.27$, p<0.001 in men.

Associations between QoL and Outcomes

Associations between MLHFQ/EQ-VAS and outcomes in women and men are reported in **Figure 14.** In women, neither MLHFQ nor EQ-VAS were associated with the composite of HF hospitalization or death. In men, 5 units increase in MLHFQ (worse QoL) was associated with a 6% increase in risk of the composite outcome [HR 1.06, 95% CI 1.01-1.11, p 0.026]. Coherently, 5 units increase in EQ-VAS (better QoL) was associated with a 7% reduction in risk (HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.88-0.98, p=0.010). The association between EQ-VAS and risk of adverse outcome persisted after adjustment for age, kidney function (eGFR) and comorbidities (T2DM, anaemia, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and IHD) (HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.088-0.99, p=0.020). The association between MLHFQ and the composite outcome approximated statistical significance (HR 1.05, 95% CI 1.00-1.11, 0.059). The associations were however not independent of HF severity and were lost when NPs were added to the model.



Figure 14. Associations between MLHFQ and EQ-VAS and the composite of HF hospitalization and death. *Model 2* includes adjustment for age, kidney function and relevant comorbidities (T2DM, anaemia, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and IHD), and in *Model 3* with addition of quartiles of NPs.

Study IV

Baseline characteristics

Of 9847 patients, 1811 (18%) had HFpEF, 2122 (22%) HFmrEF, and 5914 (60%) HFrEF, **Figure 15**. The proportion of females was higher in HFpEF (49%) vs. HFmrEF (35%) vs. HFrEF (25%). Females of all HF-phenotypes were older, had higher NYHA class, and better renal function as compared with males. The prevalence of T2DM, IHD, and anaemia was lower in females. Atrial fibrillation was less prevalent in females compared with males in HFpEF and HFrEF, whereas in HFmrEF, females were less likely to have hypertension and cancer. Except for more use of diuretics in females with HFpEF and HFmrEF and more use of statins in males regardless of EF, therapy was similar in both sexes.



Concentrations of NT-proBNP

Concentrations of NT-proBNP were higher in females vs. males in all three HF types. Sexdifferences in NT-proBNP levels were consistent when rhythm status was considered (atrial fibrillation vs. no atrial fibrillation), except for in patients with HFmrEF where there was no statistically significant difference in females vs. males, **Figure 16 A-C**.

Associations between clinical characteristics and high NT-proBNP

Independent associations between relevant demographics/clinical characteristics/ therapies and NT-proBNP are shown in **Figure 17 A-C**. Factors associated with high NT-proBNP concentrations were similar in both sexes across HF phenotypes with few exceptions. In



HFpEF, hypertension was associated with high NT-proBNP in males but not in females (p-interaction sex*hypertension=0.015). In addition, there was a difference in association between mean arterial pressure \geq 90 mmHg and high NT-proBNP in males vs. females (p-interaction 0.040). Diuretic use was also associated with increased odds of high NT-proBNP in males but not in females (p-interaction=0.032). In HFmrEF, in females, whereas not in males, IHD was associated with high NT-proBNP (p-interaction 0.005). In HFrEF there was no significant interaction between the variables explored and sex.

Prognostic associations of NT-ProBNP in females vs. males

In HFpEF, over a median (IQR) follow-up of 2.1 (1.0-3.6) years, 100 deaths per 1000 patient-years occurred in females vs. 107 in males. In HFmrEF rates were 89 vs. 100 per 1000 patient-years over a follow-up of 2.0 (1.0-3.6) years, whereas in HFrEF they were 85 vs. 89 per 1000 patient-years over a follow-up of 2.0 (0.9-3.6) years in females vs. males, respectively.

Rates for the composite endpoint of HF hospitalization or all-cause death were 169 vs. 172 per 1000 person-years in females vs. males in HFpEF, 188 vs. 171 in HFmrEF and 209 vs. 243 in HFrEF.



Figure 17 A-C. Associations between patient characteristics and high NT-proBNP in the three HF phenotypes.

Figure 18 show survival free of HF hospitalization together with crude and adjusted HRs for risk of the composite outcome associated with high NT-proBNP in HFpEF, HFmrEF, and HFrEF. NT-proBNP above median was associated with increased unadjusted and adjusted risk regardless of sex and EF. There were no significant interactions between sex and NT-proBNP.



NT-proBNP and hazard ratios for the composite endpoint in females and males.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The principal findings of the four studies in this thesis are:

- 1. The impairments of the IGF-1 axis are more pronounced in HFrEF compared to in HFpEF and are associated with poor prognosis in HFrEF. Still, both EF phenotypes share increased levels of IGFBP-1, indicating inhibition of the IGF-1-axis. IGFBP-1 was also associated with HF severity measured by NT-proBNP. Together with previous data, this suggests a potential mechanistic link between IGFBP-1 and NPs.
- 2. HFpEF and HFrEF share elevated levels of leptin and adiponectin. The obesity paradox, where higher levels of leptin are associated with better prognosis, was only demonstrated in HFrEF, pointing towards a more conventional metabolic profile in HFpEF.
- **3.** Women with HFpEF express worse global QoL than men. Overall, QoL was only weakly associated with measures of HF severity and the associations were weaker in women. In men only, poor QoL was associated with worse outcome. Overall, the results suggest that to improve QoL in HFpEF patients, in particular in women, other factors than HF, such as comorbidities, must be sought and addressed.
- **4.** Women with chronic HF across the entire EF spectrum have higher NT-proBNP concentrations than men, but associations with patient characteristics and outcomes are largely similar. This supports the current use of NT-proBNP for prognostic purposes but the impact of the relatively large differences between sexes in the lower range warrants further investigation.

The IGF-1 axis

Mounting evidence suggests that HFpEF and HFrEF, despite similar symptoms, are pathophysiologically different^{11,15,150}. However, in HFpEF, there is still a vague understanding of the syndrome and many areas, including when and how to treat remain elusive¹⁰. The aim of **Study I** and **II** was to investigate similarities and differences between HFpEF and HFrEF regarding metabolic biomarkers previously poorly explored in HFpEF.

Anabolic impairment is a feature of HFrEF, but data regarding HFpEF is limited¹⁵¹. In **Study I** we confirmed findings in HFrEF of reduced levels of IGF-1 and the association between higher levels and better outcomes^{103,104,115}. Depressed IGF-1 may merely be a marker of catabolism and worse HF. Still, the association was independent of HF severity. Considering the presumed inotropic actions of IGF-1 and role in adaptive cardiac remodeling, low IGF-1 activity may directly contribute to HF severity in HFrEF^{152,153}.

Contrary to in HFrEF, IGF-1 was no different from controls in HFpEF, and there was no association with outcomes. This suggests a more intact somatotropic axis in HFpEF, possibly due to obesity, insulin resistance, or merely absence of catabolism. Our findings were confirmed in a study of the multiple hormone deficiency syndrome, investigating the somatotropic, thyroid, adrenal, and gonadal hormonal axes¹⁵⁴. Higher concentrations of IGF-1 were reported in HFpEF compared with HFrEF and overall, 46% of patients with HFpEF had no hormonal deficiency vs. 4% in HFrEF¹⁵⁴. Concentrations of IGFBP-1 were similarly increased in both HFpEF and HFrEF. Since IGFBP-1 regulates IGF-1 activity, this argues for impaired IGF-1 activity in both HF phenotypes, i.e. in contrast to the findings on IGF-1 itself, addressed above. Nevertheless, besides regulating IGF-1, IGFBP-1 has other, independent, actions. Insulin inhibits IGFBP-1 production, and IGFBP-1 is reduced in insulin-resistance where low levels are associated with decreased NO-production, microvascular disease, and cardiovascular risk factors^{155,156}. In animal models of insulin resistance, overexpression of IGFBP-1 improves insulin sensitivity, lowers blood pressure, and increases vascular NO-production ^{157,158}. However, in the development of manifest T2DM, possibly due to hepatic insulin resistance, IGFBP-1 increases^{159,160}. High levels of IGFBP-1 are, like NPs, associated with cardiovascular mortality and predict onset HF. In sub-group analysis high IGFBP-1 levels predict HFpEF, whereas not clearly HFrEF^{111,161}.

While there was no association between IGF-1 and NT-proBNP, the association between IGFBP-1 and NT-proBNP was evident in both HFpEF and HFrEF. Malnutrition, cachexia, inflammatory cytokines, and oxidative stress all lead to increased IGFBP-1 and these factors are also associated with increased BNP^{67,162,163}. Indeed, Meirovich et al. demonstrated that rat cardiomyocytes infused with IGFBP-1 secrete BNP¹⁶³, findings that we recently have reproduced both in rat and human cardiomyocytes (unpublished).

Despite the association with NT-proBNP, we found no association between high IGFBP-1 and prognosis in neither HFpEF nor HFrEF. Considering the small sample size, this should be interpreted with caution. and recently, an association between high IGFBP-1 and poor outcome has been shown in HFrEF¹⁶⁴.

High NPs are risk markers in HF but simultaneously protective factors modulating adaptive pathways. Assuming the beneficial endothelial effects of IGFBP-1 and the strong and potentially mechanistic association with BNP, possibly also IGFBP-1 participates in the adaptive neurohormonal activation in HF in concert with NPs. The role of IGFBP-1 in the evolution of and in manifest HF is nonetheless still elusive.

Leptin and adiponectin

Leptin and adiponectin concentrations are elevated in HFrEF and as a part of the obesity paradox, high leptin levels are associated with better outcomes in HFrEF^{120,124,137}. In **Study 2**, we show that the levels of leptin and adiponectin are similarly increased in both HFpEF and HFrEF. We also confirmed the obesity paradox of higher levels of leptin being associated with a more favourable prognosis in HFrEF. Still, the association was not independent of HF severity measured as NT-proBNP. This is in contrast to previous findings where leptin was associated with better outcomes in HFrEF independent of NT-proBNP¹²⁰. However, adjustment for HF severity through NPs, considering the interaction between NPs and obesity, may not be optimal when assessing the role of leptin. Furthermore, whether leptin itself has a mechanistic role in the obesity paradox, through beneficial actions in manifest HFrEF, or is merely a bystander related to other factors in obesity, is not clear.

In HFpEF, the obesity paradox regarding leptin could not be confirmed. The obesity paradox seems to be a unique feature of HFrEF, and recent data suggest, in accordance with our findings, that HFpEF displays a more conventional metabolic profile¹⁶⁵. Possibly, hyperleptinemia in HFpEF is rather associated with the pathogenesis of the syndrome through the negative actions of SNS-stimulation, low-grade inflammation, oxidative stress, and increased aldosterone production mediated by leptin^{117,129}. Interestingly, considering the sex distribution in HFpEF, women in the general population have higher concentrations of leptin compared with men, and leptin appears to be more strongly associated with markers of inflammation in women¹¹⁸.

While low levels of adiponectin are associated with obesity and cardiovascular risk, adiponectin is increased in manifest HFrEF. Adiponectin in HF is furthermore associated with poor prognosis, despite its purported beneficial actions, which is sometimes referred to as the adiponectin paradox^{135-137,166}. We report increased adiponectin in both HF phenotypes and confirm the findings of an association with poor prognosis in HFrEF^{135-137,167}. There was no association in HFpEF. Again, the absence of association could be explained solely by poor power. However, in the development of HF, the increased risk associated with adiponectin is explained by the risk associated with concomitantly increased NPs¹⁶⁸. Correspondingly, there was no clear association between concentrations of adiponectin and NT-proBNP in HFpEF.

There are suggestions of adiponectin resistance in HFrEF, both in the myocardium and in skeletal muscle, which would be a possible explanation for the adiponectin paradox¹⁶⁶. Additionally, NPs stimulate increased adiponectin release from adipose tissue and administration of recombinant NPs increase plasma adiponectin concentrations in HF¹³⁸. Besides natriuresis and reverse remodeling effects, BNP also has favourable effects on lipid metabolism¹⁶² and these actions are possibly mediated through adiponectin¹⁶⁹. Whether adiponectin is a player in the adaptive NP activation in HF, and whether it represents a potential treatment target remain unknown.

Treatment targets in HF

After decades of therapeutic success in blocking maladaptive neurohormonal activation in HFrEF, the discovery of adaptive pathways in HF is a new arena for therapeutic development. The hitherto most successful example is the combination of neprilysin inhibition and angiotensin receptor blockade with sacubitril-valsartan, reducing NP breakdown¹⁷. Both recombinant human NPs and designer peptides have been and continue to be investigated despite mixed success in trials^{64,170}.

Obesity is associated with both incident HFrEF and HFpEF and it is well established that obesity is associated with lower levels of NPs^{93,171}. The mechanism is thought to be both increases in neprilysin activity and expression of the NP receptor C, mediating NP degradation⁹³. However, besides natriuretic and adaptive remodeling effects, NPs have metabolic effects such as inhibiting the proliferation of adipocytes, inducing lipolysis and increasing the concentrations of the cardiac energy substrate free fatty acids^{162,172,173}. As mentioned, possibly, some of these effects may be mediated through adiponectin¹⁶⁹. Both adiponectin and IGFBP-1 were positively associated with NT-proBNP in our studies and other studies show possible mechanistic links and cardioprotective effects^{110,157,158,163,174}.

Hence, adiponectin and IGFBP-1 may represent potential players in the adaptive response in HF. An adiponectin receptor agonist, Adiporon is investigated in animal studies in various medical conditions, e.g. diabetic nephropathy^{175,176} but any role in the development of or manifest HF, is not yet known.

In HFrEF, neurohormonal antagonists are effective regardless of HF severity. In HFpEF, there is a hypothesis of treatment effect in mild or early stage of HFpEF, in contrast to severe HFpEF with potentially irreversible structural changes, different from in HFrEF. This is based in part on the results from I-PRESERVE and TOP-CAT with treatment effect in patients with less severe HF measured as lower NP-concentrations^{72,177}. Considering the role of obesity and T2DM in the evolution of HFpEF through inflammation; adipokines and insulin-related peptides could possibly represent early treatment targets. The impressive cardiovascular effects of the sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors in the treatment of T2DM, with reductions in HF hospitalizations of 35%, are intriguing ^{178,179}. While these studies did not assess EF, HFpEF is the most prevalent type of HF in T2DM¹⁸⁰. Although the early treatment effect of SGLT-2 inhibitors is likely largely related to natriuretic and diuretic effects, the possible roles of direct cardiac, vascular or anti-inflammatory actions are not fully understood. Considering the similar, but opposing actions of leptin, the hypothetical interaction between SGLT-2 inhibition and leptin is interesting¹⁸¹.

In HFrEF the obesity paradox and the role of the somatotropic axis represent possible treatment targets. Obesity is associated with higher concentrations of IGF-1 and IGF-1 reduces systemic vascular resistance and is inotropic¹⁰⁶. Possibly, IGF-1 is one of many factors involved in the obesity paradox. GH therapy in HFrEF has been tested in various smaller studies with conflicting results. However, in GH-deficient subjects, GH replacement show promising results, stressing the importance of phenotyping the patients and individualizing treatment¹⁵³.

Patient reported outcomes and sex

HF is indeed a deadly and disabling disease with significant impact on QoL affecting not only physical capacity, but also mental health and social life^{53,182}. In **Study III** we assessed PROs in patients with HFpEF and potential sex differences. Ideally, HF care and therapies should not only improve morbidity and mortality, but also the patients' well-being or QoL^{48,49}. The importance of QoL is stressed by the fact that some patients with HF, in particular patients with higher NP-concentrations, more dyspnoea, and lower general QoL are even willing to trade life longevity for improved QoL^{183,184}. However, this issue is complex and rather hypothetical. Furthermore, conflicting data has been reported, where a majority of elderly HF patients are unwilling to trade longevity for improved QoL. Interestingly though, female sex was a predictor of willingness to trade ¹⁸⁵. In HFrEF, women also express worse QoL than men ⁵⁰.

In **Study III**, women and men with stable HFpEF expressed similar disease specific QoL while women expressed worse general QoL than men, independent of age and HF severity. HF severity was adjusted for through both NYHA class and concentrations of NPs. Nevertheless, the adjustment for HF severity is difficult in comparisons between sexes. The perception of dyspnoea and NYHA class differs in women and men¹⁸⁶, and, as we show in **Study IV**, concentrations of NT-proBNP may be higher in women. Diuretic dose is sometimes used to assess HF severity but considering standard dosing, lower body weight in women, and the fact

that women are more often prescribed diuretics this measure also has inherent difficulties⁷. Despite the severe diagnosis of HF, not even half of patients with HF rate HF as the major determinant of impaired QoL⁵⁴. We found only weak associations of QoL with HF severity, and seemingly weaker in women. One explanation might be that women with HFpEF have more comorbidities than men⁸. Indeed, non-cardiovascular comorbidities, such as T2DM, kidney failure, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, may contribute even more to impaired functional status and QoL than HF itself or cardiovascular comorbidities in patients with HF¹⁸⁷. While QoL is known to be associated with both HF severity and outcomes in both HFpEF and HFrEF^{51,188}, we surprisingly only found the latter association in men. Since the outcome investigated was HF hospitalization or death, one explanation for the absence of association may be that poor QoL in women is to a larger extent explained by other factors than HF itself. Overall, the results suggest that patients with HFpEF, in particular women, have impaired QoL. To improve QoL, individual factors must be taken into account and a holistic approach to HF therapy and interventions is necessary.

Natriuretic peptides and sex

There seem to be sex differences in the phenotypic expression of HF, prognosis and response to therapy. For multiple reasons women may be more prone to develop HFpEF compared to men^{8,189}. Indeed, the biomarkers studied in this thesis exhibit sex-specific patterns^{118,141,190}. In **Study I** and **II**, due to the low number of women in HFrEF, sex-specific comparisons between HFpEF and HFrEF were not possible and larger studies are needed to confirm and expand upon our findings.

BNP or NT-proBNP is by far the most widely used biomarker in HF both for confirming and especially for excluding the diagnosis. It may be used as a HF severity or prognostic marker, potentially for guidance of therapeutic decisions, as a therapeutic target, and as a surrogate endpoint in early phase trials⁷⁴. As evidenced by its adaptive cardiovascular effects and the PARADIGM-HF trial, it also represents a therapeutic target¹⁷. In **Study IV** we show that despite higher concentrations in women across the EF spectrum, the associations between clinical characteristics and high NT-proBNP were largely similar in women and men with HF. There were only few exceptions, mainly in HFpEF. We also show that the prognostic ability of NT-proBNP was comparable in women and men in all EF phenotypes. This is in agreement with studies in acute HF¹³, but in contrast to reports in healthy women where associations with relevant comorbidities, like obesity, have a stronger effect on NP levels in women than in men⁸⁵. In healthy individuals, sex is an important predictor of NPconcentrations¹⁹¹. Possibly, the role of sex in determining levels of NPs is "diluted" in the higher range of NP-s caused by HF and increased filling pressures.

Indeed, the lower the concentrations of NPs, the more pronounced the differences in NP concentrations between the sexes became. In the present study, in patients with HFpEF without atrial fibrillation, females had 45% higher median NT-proBNP concentrations compared with males. In certain populations, a relatively large proportion, 30%, of patients with HFpEF have low or even normal NPs ¹⁹². In that context, the sexual dimorphism regarding levels of NPs and associations between NP-levels and comorbidities might indeed be relevant. Similarly, the present diagnostic cut-offs and cut-offs for inclusion in trials might yield women with less severe HF than men.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

HFrEF, HFpEF and HFmrEF – different challenges

HF is common, deadly, associated with poor QoL, and increasing in prevalence. However, the different HF phenotypes face different challenges. In HFrEF, multiple therapies exist but implementation of evidence based interventions and improving PRO remain a target. The role of the somatotropic axis, the obesity paradox, and potential sex-differences in pathophysiology and response to treatment are still to be elucidated. The obesity paradox and the somatotropic axis are, among other areas, intriguing as potential treatment targets.

In HFpEF, there is still a vague and insufficient understanding of the syndrome, of the relative female predominance, and of how and when to intervene. Considering the presumed role of obesity and T2DM in the evolution of HFpEF and the link between the NP-system, metabolism, and adipose tissue, Adiponectin and IGFBP-1 may represent players in the adaptive response in HF. As such they warrant further investigation as potential treatment targets.

HFmrEF seems to be a heterogeneous phenotype between the two extremes. To what extent the patients with HFmrEF are actually merely a subgroup of HFrEF, a heterogeneous mix of the two phenotypes, or if the pathophysiologically different phenotypes of HFrEF and HFpEF actually can coexist in HFmrEF is still unknown.

Nevertheless, the one-size fits all treatment may no longer be valid for HF. Possibly individualized treatment is needed to improve not only survival, but also PRO. Furthermore, after decades of focus on blocking maladaptive response in HF, the largely unexplored adaptive neurohormonal activation in HF represents a vast field of potential therapeutic targets. And last, since women constitute 50% of the HF population, sex-specific analyses should be imperative and women can no longer be considered merely one subgroup of many in HF.

LIMITATIONS

A limitation in these, and in general in comparisons of HFpEF and HFrEF, is the distinct difference in age, sex distribution, comorbidities, and often HF severity. The three cohorts in **Study I** and **II** were also recruited in different settings, although they were all analysed consistently in the fasting state with the same, validated methods. Due to low sample size and few women in the HFrEF cohort, sex specific comparisons in both sexes were not possible. The outcome definitions in HFrEF and HFpEF furthermore differed. Hospitalization was not included in HFrEF due to a too high event rate, while implantation of LV assist device or heart transplantation were considered as deterioration in HFrEF and HFpEF and HFpEF, adjustment for HF severity was performed, and some of the findings have been confirmed in later studies, we cannot rule out that our findings reflect different severities rather than differences between the syndromes. The interpretations of **Study I** and **II** are also limited by the small sample size, but being the early studies of these biomarkers in HFpEF, they could be considered hypothesis generating.

The three studies in the KaRen cohort (**Studies I-III**) were, albeit pre-specified, retrospective analyses. The KaRen study was also designed before the new diagnostic criteria for HFpEF. Nevertheless, only 2% of the patients in the biomarker sub-study (**Studies I and II**) had EF <50% and in **Study III**, patients with EF <50% were excluded. In **Study III**, data on the different dimensions of MLHFQ were not available why more detailed analyses of HF specific QoL impairment was not possible.

In **Study IV**, a cohort from SwedeHF was investigated. The inclusion criterion in SwedeHF is clinician-judged HF. Hence, it cannot be ruled out that some patients might not have HF and, considering the low awareness of HFpEF in the early study period, that HFpEF is underreported. SwedeHF has furthermore a relatively low coverage in primary care despite many HF patients are being treated there and, thus, selection bias may represent a limitation.

Although extensive adjustments were performed, we cannot exclude potential residual and unmeasured confounding affecting the interpretations. Cause-specific hospitalization but not mortality was considered due to the difficulty in assuring cause of death in registries where there is no adjudication of events. Finally, generalizability of our findings to other settings depends on similarities in population characteristics, health care organization and delivery, and HF management.

CONCLUSIONS

In this analysis of metabolic hormones, NPs, PRO, and sex in HF with different EF we make several observations that may be relevant for understanding how metabolism, neurohormonal activation, and outcomes may differ according to sex and EF phenotype.

Impairment in the IGF-1 axis is more pronounced in HFrEF compared to in HFpEF. Still, both EF phenotypes share increased IGFBP-1 which is associated with, and possibly mechanistically linked to BNP. We also found that both leptin and adiponectin were similarly increased in HFpEF and HFrEF. However, the obesity paradox regarding leptin was only demonstrated in HFrEF, pointing towards a more conventional metabolic profile in HFpEF. The associations between NPs and IGFBP-1 and the adipokines warrant further investigation considering the peptides' potential role in the evolution of and in the adaptive response in HF.

As in HFrEF, women with HFpEF express worse QoL than men and impaired QoL was associated with worse outcome in men only. Overall this suggests that, to improve QoL in HF patients, in particular in women, other factors than HF must be considered and addressed.

Women with chronic, stable HF have higher NT-proBNP concentrations than men, but associations between NT-proBNP concentrations and clinical characteristics, as well as outcomes are largely similar. This supports the current use of NT-proBNP for prognostic purposes. Nevertheless, the impact of the relatively large differences between sexes in the lower range of NPs may require further investigation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has supported me and thereby contributed to the work behind this thesis. You are many, many more than can ever be mentioned here. Thank you!

In particular, I would like to acknowledge the following:

Lars Lund, my main supervisor. You are a true magician in the scientific field. I envy your brilliant mind, knowledge, energy, and enthusiasm- we all do I think... I am grateful for the generous opportunity you have given me, your kindness, how you have handled my quirks, and for all the friendly bickering during these years.

It took no less than four **co-supervisors** to aid me through this process:

Kerstin Brismar- I would have abandoned the whole thing if it was not for you and for the sessions in your office of organized, intellectual chaos. You are inspiring, intelligent, and invaluably warm-hearted!

Camilla Hage- the organizer of the entire research group, taking care of everyone- impressive in so many ways.

Gianluigi Savarese- frisky, frank, and fantastic. The only thing I know better than you, is Swedish.

Daniel Andersson- jovial and analytic. The master of calcium signalling and the one who actually proves things in the lab, while I go on about associations...

I have been blessed with the best of mentors:

Eva Nylander- a role model in so many ways. Sound, smart, and super-competent. You would easily win the world-cup in humbleness if you competed.

Malin Jonsson Fagerlund-the one I believe everyone at PMI would like to resemble. You have it all...

The research group of Lars' is a conglomerate of extraordinary people. I would like to thank some of you in particular:

Cecilia Linde, co-author and Professor of Cardiology. You are the rare combination of a master of both science and arts, and hence, I am a fan. **Tonje Thorvaldsen**, former PhD colleague and friend- always great professional and scientific support, but above all the perfect person for everything else that is *really* important in life. My wonderful PhD and post-doc colleagues, and friends: **Emil Najjar**, **Ulrika Löfström**, **Aristomenis Manouras**, **Marcus Ståhlberg**, and **Ashwin Venkatesh**. And **Lina Benson**-thanks for fantastic statistical support. I will always include you in the group, hoping for your come-back.

And where would we all be without the unique support of the research department in the unit of Cardiology?

John Pernow, Professor of Cardiology and the master of it all. Eva Wallgren, you are unbeatable! You have been the best of support since the first day of my futile MetAnEnd residency project. Raquel Binisi, the adventurous, but yet so amazingly calm problem-solver and PhD-student life-saver. Ann Lindström- for your kindness- and for your perseverance in finding the diastolic coronary flow. David Ersgård, for mastering the Innocor to perfection and for your good-humoured patience in our machine maintenance joint-venture. **Matthias Lidin,** PhD-student fellow, always exuberant and encouraging. And **all the rest of you, wonderful people in the department** creating the homely atmosphere and great research!

In the "real world" I work in the ICU and my colleagues, co-workers, and friends at CIVA and the entire PMI make my job the best possible. A special thanks to Mikael Eriksson for generous assistance in practical PhD related matters. I am blessed with a boss, Johan Petersson, who is a wiz of intensive care, generous, and encouraging. Lars Ericsson, Eddie Weitzberg, and Anders Oldner- our amazing professors at PMI. You are all impressively supportive and you create a fantastic scientific ambience. The FOCs and FECs and the former and current timetablers, Kirsi Dolk, Petur Sigurjonsson, and Maria Nilsson: Thanks for organizing everything and making it possible. Magdalena Brohmé and Marie Eliasson, the flawless administrators who correct all my mistakes. And thank you David Konrad, head of PMI, for employing me and giving me the opportunity to work with all these fantastic people!

And there is a big world outside Karolinska:

Ulf Riese, my first clinical supervisor who with his energy, curiosity, and competence, made me understand that anaesthesiology and intensive care are the best of medical fields. But please, do not mention it to the cardiologists, they are still not enlightened.

My first employers ever **Anna Welander** and **Lars Leimu**, for believing in me and for being forever role-models in leadership.

My wonderful friends Mathilde Skånberg, Camilla Adebahr, Laura Landucci, Deborah Saraste and all of you "Koftor", friends from med-school and Nypan.

Johanna Jämstorp, for all the fun, the support, the well-deserved critique, and for the energy you have given me during these years. In the next life, inshallah.

Thyra Brandt and **Helena Larsson-** the two of you are so much more than friends. Thanks for always being there, no matter what.

Jonas Faxén and **Sara Luthman-** for endless professional and personal support and for being the very best of extended families.

And above all, my family and close ones: **Bertil, Maria**, **Lars, Fredrik, Anna-Karin, Emma**, and **Amanda**. Where would I be without you? You know that I love you all beyond words.

This thesis was supported by grants from the Swedish Heart-Lung Foundation and Stockholm City Council.

And finally, I would also like to express my admiration and gratitude for all the patients who, despite their illness, selflessly contribute to and make clinical research possible.

REFERENCES

- Benjamin EJ, Virani SS, Callaway CW, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Delling FN, Deo R, de Ferranti SD, Ferguson JF, Fornage M, Gillespie C, Isasi CR, Jimenez MC, Jordan LC, Judd SE, Lackland D, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth L, Liu S, Longenecker CT, Lutsey PL, Mackey JS, Matchar DB, Matsushita K, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, O'Flaherty M, Palaniappan LP, Pandey A, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Ritchey MD, Rodriguez CJ, Roth GA, Rosamond WD, Sampson UKA, Satou GM, Shah SH, Spartano NL, Tirschwell DL, Tsao CW, Voeks JH, Willey JZ, Wilkins JT, Wu JH, Alger HM, Wong SS, Muntner P. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2018 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2018; **137**(12): e67-e492.
- Ponikowski P, Anker SD, AlHabib KF, Cowie MR, Force TL, Hu S, Jaarsma T, Krum H, Rastogi V, Rohde LE, Samal UC, Shimokawa H, Budi Siswanto B, Sliwa K, Filippatos G. Heart failure: preventing disease and death worldwide. *ESC Heart Fail* 2014; 1(1): 4-25.
- 3. Cook C, Cole G, Asaria P, Jabbour R, Francis DP. The annual global economic burden of heart failure. *International journal of cardiology* 2014; **171**(3): 368-376.
- 4. Heidenreich PA, Albert NM, Allen LA, Bluemke DA, Butler J, Fonarow GC, Ikonomidis JS, Khavjou O, Konstam MA, Maddox TM, Nichol G, Pham M, Pina IL, Trogdon JG, American Heart Association Advocacy Coordinating C, Council on Arteriosclerosis T, Vascular B, Council on Cardiovascular R, Intervention, Council on Clinical C, Council on E, Prevention, Stroke C. Forecasting the impact of heart failure in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation Heart failure* 2013; 6(3): 606-619.
- 5. McMurray JJ. Improving outcomes in heart failure: a personal perspective. *European heart journal* 2015; **36**(48): 3467-3470.
- 6. Butler J, Fonarow GC, Zile MR, Lam CS, Roessig L, Schelbert EB, Shah SJ, Ahmed A, Bonow RO, Cleland JG, Cody RJ, Chioncel O, Collins SP, Dunnmon P, Filippatos G, Lefkowitz MP, Marti CN, McMurray JJ, Misselwitz F, Nodari S, O'Connor C, Pfeffer MA, Pieske B, Pitt B, Rosano G, Sabbah HN, Senni M, Solomon SD, Stockbridge N, Teerlink JR, Georgiopoulou VV, Gheorghiade M. Developing therapies for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: current state and future directions. *JACC Heart failure* 2014; **2**(2): 97-112.
- 7. Taylor AL. Heart failure in women. *Current heart failure reports* 2015; **12**(2): 187-195.
- 8. Beale AL, Meyer P, Marwick TH, Lam CSP, Kaye DM. Sex Differences in Cardiovascular Pathophysiology: Why Women Are Overrepresented in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Circulation* 2018; **138**(2): 198-205.
- 9. Greiten LE, Holditch SJ, Arunachalam SP, Miller VM. Should there be sex-specific criteria for the diagnosis and treatment of heart failure? *Journal of cardiovascular translational research* 2014; **7**(2): 139-155.
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Authors/Task Force M, Document R. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and

treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *European journal of heart failure* 2016; **18**(8): 891-975.

- 11. Borlaug BA, Redfield MM. Diastolic and systolic heart failure are distinct phenotypes within the heart failure spectrum. *Circulation* 2011; **123**(18): 2006-2013; discussion 2014.
- Fonarow GC, Stough WG, Abraham WT, Albert NM, Gheorghiade M, Greenberg BH, O'Connor CM, Sun JL, Yancy CW, Young JB, Investigators O-H, Hospitals. Characteristics, treatments, and outcomes of patients with preserved systolic function hospitalized for heart failure: a report from the OPTIMIZE-HF Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 50(8): 768-777.
- 13. Hsich EM, Grau-Sepulveda MV, Hernandez AF, Eapen ZJ, Xian Y, Schwamm LH, Bhatt DL, Fonarow GC. Relationship between sex, ejection fraction, and B-type natriuretic peptide levels in patients hospitalized with heart failure and associations with inhospital outcomes: findings from the Get With The Guideline-Heart Failure Registry. *American heart journal* 2013; **166**(6): 1063-1071 e1063.
- 14. Koh AS, Tay WT, Teng THK, Vedin O, Benson L, Dahlstrom U, Savarese G, Lam CSP, Lund LH. A comprehensive population-based characterization of heart failure with midrange ejection fraction. *European journal of heart failure* 2017; **19**(12): 1624-1634.
- 15. Paulus WJ, Tschope C. A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013; **62**(4): 263-271.
- Bloom MW, Greenberg B, Jaarsma T, Januzzi JL, Lam CSP, Maggioni AP, Trochu JN, Butler J. Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Nature reviews Disease primers* 2017; 3: 17058.
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile MR, Investigators P-H, Committees. Angiotensinneprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. *The New England journal of medicine* 2014; **371**(11): 993-1004.
- 18. Borlaug BA. The pathophysiology of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Nature reviews Cardiology* 2014.
- 19. Franssen C, Chen S, Unger A, Korkmaz HI, De Keulenaer GW, Tschope C, Leite-Moreira AF, Musters R, Niessen HW, Linke WA, Paulus WJ, Hamdani N. Myocardial Microvascular Inflammatory Endothelial Activation in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. *JACC Heart failure* 2016; **4**(4): 312-324.
- 20. Lam CS, Brutsaert DL. Endothelial dysfunction: a pathophysiologic factor in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2012; **60**(18): 1787-1789.
- 21. Segers VFM, Brutsaert DL, De Keulenaer GW. Cardiac Remodeling: Endothelial Cells Have More to Say Than Just NO. *Frontiers in physiology* 2018; **9:** 382.
- Zile MR, Baicu CF, Ikonomidis JS, Stroud RE, Nietert PJ, Bradshaw AD, Slater R, Palmer BM, Van Buren P, Meyer M, Redfield MM, Bull DA, Granzier HL, LeWinter MM. Myocardial stiffness in patients with heart failure and a preserved ejection fraction: contributions of collagen and titin. *Circulation* 2015; **131**(14): 1247-1259.

- 23. Hamdani N, Franssen C, Lourenco A, Falcao-Pires I, Fontoura D, Leite S, Plettig L, Lopez B, Ottenheijm CA, Becher PM, Gonzalez A, Tschope C, Diez J, Linke WA, Leite-Moreira AF, Paulus WJ. Myocardial titin hypophosphorylation importantly contributes to heart failure with preserved ejection fraction in a rat metabolic risk model. *Circulation Heart failure* 2013; **6**(6): 1239-1249.
- 24. Phan TT, Abozguia K, Nallur Shivu G, Mahadevan G, Ahmed I, Williams L, Dwivedi G, Patel K, Steendijk P, Ashrafian H, Henning A, Frenneaux M. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction is characterized by dynamic impairment of active relaxation and contraction of the left ventricle on exercise and associated with myocardial energy deficiency. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009; **54**(5): 402-409.
- 25. The survival of patients with heart failure with preserved or reduced left ventricular ejection fraction: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *European heart journal* 2012; **33**(14): 1750-1757.
- 26. Owan TE, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Jacobsen SJ, Roger VL, Redfield MM. Trends in prevalence and outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *The New England journal of medicine* 2006; **355**(3): 251-259.
- 27. Scantlebury DC, Borlaug BA. Why are women more likely than men to develop heart failure with preserved ejection fraction? *Current opinion in cardiology* 2011; **26**(6): 562-568.
- Gori M, Lam CS, Gupta DK, Santos AB, Cheng S, Shah AM, Claggett B, Zile MR, Kraigher-Krainer E, Pieske B, Voors AA, Packer M, Bransford T, Lefkowitz M, McMurray JJ, Solomon SD, Investigators P. Sex-specific cardiovascular structure and function in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European journal of heart failure* 2014; 16(5): 535-542.
- 29. Cleland JG, Tendera M, Adamus J, Freemantle N, Polonski L, Taylor J. The perindopril in elderly people with chronic heart failure (PEP-CHF) study. *Eur Heart J* 2006; **27**(19): 2338-2345.
- Yusuf S, Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K, Granger CB, Held P, McMurray JJ, Michelson EL, Olofsson B, Ostergren J. Effects of candesartan in patients with chronic heart failure and preserved left-ventricular ejection fraction: the CHARM-Preserved Trial. *Lancet* 2003; 362(9386): 777-781.
- Massie BM, Carson PE, McMurray JJ, Komajda M, McKelvie R, Zile MR, Anderson S, Donovan M, Iverson E, Staiger C, Ptaszynska A. Irbesartan in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. *N Engl J Med* 2008; **359**(23): 2456-2467.
- 32. Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Assmann SF, Boineau R, Anand IS, Claggett B, Clausell N, Desai AS, Diaz R, Fleg JL, Gordeev I, Harty B, Heitner JF, Kenwood CT, Lewis EF, O'Meara E, Probstfield JL, Shaburishvili T, Shah SJ, Solomon SD, Sweitzer NK, Yang S, McKinlay SM, Investigators T. Spironolactone for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *N Engl J Med* 2014; **370**(15): 1383-1392.
- 33. Upadhya B, Haykowsky MJ, Kitzman DW. Therapy for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: current status, unique challenges, and future directions. *Heart Fail Rev* 2018.
- 34. Shah SJ. Matchmaking for the optimization of clinical trials of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: no laughing matter. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013; **62**(15): 1339-1342.
- 35. Gheorghiade M, Vaduganathan M, Shah SJ. Evaluative framework for phase II studies

in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. *JACC Heart failure* 2013; **1**(2): 123-126.

- 36. Patel HC, Hayward C, di Mario C, Cowie MR, Lyon AR, Rosen SD. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: the impact of stricter definitions. *Eur J Heart Fail* 2014.
- 37. Shah SJ, Katz DH, Deo RC. Phenotypic spectrum of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Heart failure clinics* 2014; **10**(3): 407-418.
- 38. Dunlay SM, Roger VL, Redfield MM. Epidemiology of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Nature reviews Cardiology* 2017; **14**(10): 591-602.
- 39. Lam CS, Solomon SD. Fussing Over the Middle Child: Heart Failure With Mid-Range Ejection Fraction. *Circulation* 2017; **135**(14): 1279-1280.
- 40. Lam CS, Teng TH. Understanding Heart Failure With Mid-Range Ejection Fraction. *JACC Heart failure* 2016; **4**(6): 473-476.
- 41. Kapoor JR, Kapoor R, Ju C, Heidenreich PA, Eapen ZJ, Hernandez AF, Butler J, Yancy CW, Fonarow GC. Precipitating Clinical Factors, Heart Failure Characterization, and Outcomes in Patients Hospitalized With Heart Failure With Reduced, Borderline, and Preserved Ejection Fraction. *JACC Heart failure* 2016; **4**(6): 464-472.
- 42. Savarese G, Orsini N, Hage C, Vedin O, Cosentino F, Rosano GMC, Dahlstrom U, Lund LH. Utilizing NT-proBNP for Eligibility and Enrichment in Trials in HFpEF, HFmrEF, and HFrEF. JACC Heart failure 2018; 6(3): 246-256.
- 43. Rickenbacher P, Kaufmann BA, Maeder MT, Bernheim A, Goetschalckx K, Pfister O, Pfisterer M, Brunner-La Rocca HP. Heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction: a distinct clinical entity? Insights from the Trial of Intensified versus standard Medical therapy in Elderly patients with Congestive Heart Failure (TIME-CHF). *European journal of heart failure* 2017; **19**(12): 1586-1596.
- 44. Chioncel O, Lainscak M, Seferovic PM, Anker SD, Crespo-Leiro MG, Harjola VP, Parissis J, Laroche C, Piepoli MF, Fonseca C, Mebazaa A, Lund L, Ambrosio GA, Coats AJ, Ferrari R, Ruschitzka F, Maggioni AP, Filippatos G. Epidemiology and one-year outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure and preserved, mid-range and reduced ejection fraction: an analysis of the ESC Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. *European journal of heart failure* 2017; **19**(12): 1574-1585.
- 45. Lund LH, Claggett B, Liu J, Lam CS, Jhund PS, Rosano GM, Swedberg K, Yusuf S, Granger CB, Pfeffer MA, McMurray JJV, Solomon SD. Heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction in CHARM: characteristics, outcomes and effect of candesartan across the entire ejection fraction spectrum. *European journal of heart failure* 2018; **20**(8): 1230-1239.
- 46. Cleland JGF, Bunting KV, Flather MD, Altman DG, Holmes J, Coats AJS, Manzano L, McMurray JJV, Ruschitzka F, van Veldhuisen DJ, von Lueder TG, Bohm M, Andersson B, Kjekshus J, Packer M, Rigby AS, Rosano G, Wedel H, Hjalmarson A, Wikstrand J, Kotecha D. Beta-blockers for heart failure with reduced, mid-range, and preserved ejection fraction: an individual patient-level analysis of double-blind randomized trials. *European heart journal* 2018; **39**(1): 26-35.
- Cheng RK, Cox M, Neely ML, Heidenreich PA, Bhatt DL, Eapen ZJ, Hernandez AF, Butler J, Yancy CW, Fonarow GC. Outcomes in patients with heart failure with preserved, borderline, and reduced ejection fraction in the Medicare population. *American heart journal* 2014; **168**(5): 721-730.

- 48. Anker SD, Agewall S, Borggrefe M, Calvert M, Jaime Caro J, Cowie MR, Ford I, Paty JA, Riley JP, Swedberg K, Tavazzi L, Wiklund I, Kirchhof P. The importance of patient-reported outcomes: a call for their comprehensive integration in cardiovascular clinical trials. *European heart journal* 2014; **35**(30): 2001-2009.
- 49. Butler J, Hamo CE, Udelson JE, Pitt B, Yancy C, Shah SJ, Desvigne-Nickens P, Bernstein HS, Clark RL, Depre C, Dinh W, Hamer A, Kay-Mugford P, Kramer F, Lefkowitz M, Lewis K, Maya J, Maybaum S, Patel MJ, Pollack PS, Roessig L, Rotman S, Salsali A, Sims JJ, Senni M, Rosano G, Dunnmon P, Stockbridge N, Anker SD, Zile MR, Gheorghiade M. Exploring New Endpoints for Patients With Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Circulation Heart failure* 2016; **9**(11).
- 50. Hoekstra T, Jaarsma T, van Veldhuisen DJ, Hillege HL, Sanderman R, Lesman-Leegte I. Quality of life and survival in patients with heart failure. *European journal of heart failure* 2013; **15**(1): 94-102.
- 51. Hoekstra T, Lesman-Leegte I, van Veldhuisen DJ, Sanderman R, Jaarsma T. Quality of life is impaired similarly in heart failure patients with preserved and reduced ejection fraction. *European journal of heart failure* 2011; **13**(9): 1013-1018.
- 52. Lewis EF, Lamas GA, O'Meara E, Granger CB, Dunlap ME, McKelvie RS, Probstfield JL, Young JB, Michelson EL, Halling K, Carlsson J, Olofsson B, McMurray JJ, Yusuf S, Swedberg K, Pfeffer MA. Characterization of health-related quality of life in heart failure patients with preserved versus low ejection fraction in CHARM. *European journal of heart failure* 2007; 9(1): 83-91.
- 53. Lesman-Leegte I, Jaarsma T, Coyne JC, Hillege HL, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Sanderman R. Quality of life and depressive symptoms in the elderly: a comparison between patients with heart failure and age- and gender-matched community controls. *Journal of cardiac failure* 2009; **15**(1): 17-23.
- 54. Joyce E, Chung C, Badloe S, Odutayo K, Desai A, Givertz MM, Nohria A, Lakdawala NK, Stewart GC, Young M, Weintraub J, Stevenson LW, Lewis EF. Variable Contribution of Heart Failure to Quality of Life in Ambulatory Heart Failure With Reduced, Better, or Preserved Ejection Fraction. JACC Heart failure 2016; 4(3): 184-193.
- Ferreira JP, Duarte K, Graves TL, Zile MR, Abraham WT, Weaver FA, Lindenfeld J, Zannad
 Natriuretic Peptides, 6-Min Walk Test, and Quality-of-Life Questionnaires as Clinically Meaningful Endpoints in HF Trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68(24): 2690-2707.
- Thompson DR, Ski CF, Garside J, Astin F. A review of health-related quality of life patient-reported outcome measures in cardiovascular nursing. *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs* 2016; 15(2): 114-125.
- Garin O, Herdman M, Vilagut G, Ferrer M, Ribera A, Rajmil L, Valderas JM, Guillemin F, Revicki D, Alonso J. Assessing health-related quality of life in patients with heart failure: a systematic, standardized comparison of available measures. *Heart Fail Rev* 2014; 19(3): 359-367.
- 58. Martinez-Selles M, Doughty RN, Poppe K, Whalley GA, Earle N, Tribouilloy C, McMurray JJ, Swedberg K, Kober L, Berry C, Squire I. Gender and survival in patients with heart failure: interactions with diabetes and aetiology. Results from the MAGGIC individual patient meta-analysis. *European journal of heart failure* 2012; **14**(5): 473-479.
- 59. Lam CS, Carson PE, Anand IS, Rector TS, Kuskowski M, Komajda M, McKelvie RS,

McMurray JJ, Zile MR, Massie BM, Kitzman DW. Sex differences in clinical characteristics and outcomes in elderly patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: the Irbesartan in Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction (I-PRESERVE) trial. *Circulation Heart failure* 2012; **5**(5): 571-578.

- 60. Kannel WB, Hjortland M, Castelli WP. Role of diabetes in congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. *The American journal of cardiology* 1974; **34**(1): 29-34.
- 61. Levinsson A, Dube MP, Tardif JC, de Denus S. Sex, drugs, and heart failure: a sex-sensitive review of the evidence base behind current heart failure clinical guidelines. *ESC Heart Fail* 2018.
- 62. Cherubini A, Oristrell J, Pla X, Ruggiero C, Ferretti R, Diestre G, Clarfield AM, Crome P, Hertogh C, Lesauskaite V, Prada GI, Szczerbinska K, Topinkova E, Sinclair-Cohen J, Edbrooke D, Mills GH. The persistent exclusion of older patients from ongoing clinical trials regarding heart failure. *Archives of internal medicine* 2011; **171**(6): 550-556.
- 63. Lam CS, Chang P, Chia SY, Sim LL, Gao F, Lee FL, Chai P, Wong RC, Seow SC, Leong GK, Yeo PS, Sim D, Chua T, Kwok BW. Impact Of Sex On Clinical Characteristics And In-Hospital Outcomes In A Multi-Ethnic Southeast Asian Population Of Patients Hospitalized For Acute Heart Failure. *ASEAN heart journal : Official journal of the ASEAN Federation of Cardiology* 2014; **22**(1): 8.
- 64. Fu S, Ping P, Wang F, Luo L. Synthesis, secretion, function, metabolism and application of natriuretic peptides in heart failure. *Journal of biological engineering* 2018; **12**: 2.
- 65. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Authors/Task Force M. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *European heart journal* 2016; **37**(27): 2129-2200.
- 66. Cohen-Solal A, Laribi S, Ishihara S, Vergaro G, Baudet M, Logeart D, Mebazaa A, Gayat E, Vodovar N, Pascual-Figal DA, Seronde MF. Prognostic markers of acute decompensated heart failure: the emerging roles of cardiac biomarkers and prognostic scores. *Archives of cardiovascular diseases* 2015; **108**(1): 64-74.
- 67. Ogawa T, de Bold AJ. The heart as an endocrine organ. *Endocrine connections* 2014; **3**(2): R31-44.
- 68. Maisel AS, Krishnaswamy P, Nowak RM, McCord J, Hollander JE, Duc P, Omland T, Storrow AB, Abraham WT, Wu AH, Clopton P, Steg PG, Westheim A, Knudsen CW, Perez A, Kazanegra R, Herrmann HC, McCullough PA. Rapid measurement of B-type natriuretic peptide in the emergency diagnosis of heart failure. *The New England journal of medicine* 2002; **347**(3): 161-167.
- 69. McCullough PA, Nowak RM, McCord J, Hollander JE, Herrmann HC, Steg PG, Duc P, Westheim A, Omland T, Knudsen CW, Storrow AB, Abraham WT, Lamba S, Wu AH, Perez A, Clopton P, Krishnaswamy P, Kazanegra R, Maisel AS. B-type natriuretic peptide and clinical judgment in emergency diagnosis of heart failure: analysis from Breathing Not Properly (BNP) Multinational Study. *Circulation* 2002; **106**(4): 416-422.

- Januzzi JL, Jr., Camargo CA, Anwaruddin S, Baggish AL, Chen AA, Krauser DG, Tung R, Cameron R, Nagurney JT, Chae CU, Lloyd-Jones DM, Brown DF, Foran-Melanson S, Sluss PM, Lee-Lewandrowski E, Lewandrowski KB. The N-terminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. *The American journal of cardiology* 2005; **95**(8): 948-954.
- 71. Kociol RD, Horton JR, Fonarow GC, Reyes EM, Shaw LK, O'Connor CM, Felker GM, Hernandez AF. Admission, discharge, or change in B-type natriuretic peptide and long-term outcomes: data from Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF) linked to Medicare claims. *Circulation Heart failure* 2011; 4(5): 628-636.
- 72. Anand IS, Rector TS, Cleland JG, Kuskowski M, McKelvie RS, Persson H, McMurray JJ, Zile MR, Komajda M, Massie BM, Carson PE. Prognostic value of baseline plasma aminoterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and its interactions with irbesartan treatment effects in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: findings from the I-PRESERVE trial. *Circulation Heart failure* 2011; **4**(5): 569-577.
- 73. Eurlings LW, Sanders-van Wijk S, van Kraaij DJ, van Kimmenade R, Meeder JG, Kamp O, van Dieijen-Visser MP, Tijssen JG, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Pinto YM. Risk stratification with the use of serial N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide measurements during admission and early after discharge in heart failure patients: post hoc analysis of the PRIMA study. *Journal of cardiac failure* 2014; **20**(12): 881-890.
- 74. Vodovar N, Mebazaa A, Januzzi JL, Jr., Murtagh G, Stough WG, Adams KF, Jr., Zannad F. Evolution of natriuretic peptide biomarkers in heart failure: Implications for clinical care and clinical trials. *International journal of cardiology* 2018; **254:** 215-221.
- 75. Pufulete M, Maishman R, Dabner L, Higgins JPT, Rogers CA, Dayer M, MacLeod J, Purdy S, Hollingworth W, Schou M, Anguita-Sanchez M, Karlstrom P, Shochat MK, McDonagh T, Nightingale AK, Reeves BC. B-type natriuretic peptide-guided therapy for heart failure (HF): a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data (IPD) and aggregate data. *Systematic reviews* 2018; 7(1): 112.
- 76. Felker GM, Anstrom KJ, Adams KF, Ezekowitz JA, Fiuzat M, Houston-Miller N, Januzzi JL, Jr., Mark DB, Pina IL, Passmore G, Whellan DJ, Yang H, Cooper LS, Leifer ES, Desvigne-Nickens P, O'Connor CM. Effect of Natriuretic Peptide-Guided Therapy on Hospitalization or Cardiovascular Mortality in High-Risk Patients With Heart Failure and Reduced Ejection Fraction: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 2017; **318**(8): 713-720.
- 77. Ledwidge MT, O'Connell E, Gallagher J, Tilson L, James S, Voon V, Bermingham M, Tallon E, Watson C, O'Hanlon R, Barry M, McDonald K. Cost-effectiveness of natriuretic peptide-based screening and collaborative care: a report from the STOP-HF (St Vincent's Screening TO Prevent Heart Failure) study. *European journal of heart failure* 2015; **17**(7): 672-679.
- Anjan VY, Loftus TM, Burke MA, Akhter N, Fonarow GC, Gheorghiade M, Shah SJ. Prevalence, clinical phenotype, and outcomes associated with normal B-type natriuretic peptide levels in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *The American journal of cardiology* 2012; **110**(6): 870-876.
- 79. Savarese G, Orsini N, Hage C, Dahlstrom U, Vedin O, Rosano GMC, Lund LH. Associations With and Prognostic and Discriminatory Role of N-Terminal Pro-B-Type Natriuretic

Peptide in Heart Failure With Preserved Versus Mid-range Versus Reduced Ejection Fraction. *Journal of cardiac failure* 2018.

- Komajda M, Carson PE, Hetzel S, McKelvie R, McMurray J, Ptaszynska A, Zile MR, Demets D, Massie BM. Factors associated with outcome in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: findings from the Irbesartan in Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction Study (I-PRESERVE). *Circulation Heart failure* 2011; 4(1): 27-35.
- 81. van Veldhuisen DJ, Linssen GC, Jaarsma T, van Gilst WH, Hoes AW, Tijssen JG, Paulus WJ, Voors AA, Hillege HL. B-type natriuretic peptide and prognosis in heart failure patients with preserved and reduced ejection fraction. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013; **61**(14): 1498-1506.
- Redfield MM, Rodeheffer RJ, Jacobsen SJ, Mahoney DW, Bailey KR, Burnett JC, Jr. Plasma brain natriuretic peptide concentration: impact of age and gender. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40(5): 976-982.
- 83. Maffei S, Del Ry S, Prontera C, Clerico A. Increase in circulating levels of cardiac natriuretic peptides after hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women. *Clinical science (London, England : 1979)* 2001; **101**(5): 447-453.
- Lam CS, Cheng S, Choong K, Larson MG, Murabito JM, Newton-Cheh C, Bhasin S, McCabe EL, Miller KK, Redfield MM, Vasan RS, Coviello AD, Wang TJ. Influence of sex and hormone status on circulating natriuretic peptides. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58(6): 618-626.
- 85. Suthahar N, Meijers WC, Ho JE, Gansevoort RT, Voors AA, van der Meer P, Bakker SJL, Heymans S, van Empel V, Schroen B, van der Harst P, van Veldhuisen DJ, de Boer RA. Sex-specific associations of obesity and N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide levels in the general population. *European journal of heart failure* 2018.
- Masson S, Latini R, Anand IS, Vago T, Angelici L, Barlera S, Missov ED, Clerico A, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Val-He FTI. Direct comparison of B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and amino-terminal proBNP in a large population of patients with chronic and symptomatic heart failure: the Valsartan Heart Failure (Val-HeFT) data. *Clinical chemistry* 2006; 52(8): 1528-1538.
- 87. Nakada Y, Kawakami R, Nakano T, Takitsume A, Nakagawa H, Ueda T, Nishida T, Onoue K, Soeda T, Okayama S, Takeda Y, Watanabe M, Kawata H, Okura H, Saito Y. Sex differences in clinical characteristics and long-term outcome in acute decompensated heart failure patients with preserved and reduced ejection fraction. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 2016; **310**(7): H813-820.
- Kim HL, Kim MA, Choi DJ, Han S, Jeon ES, Cho MC, Kim JJ, Yoo BS, Shin MS, Seong IW, Ahn Y, Kang SM, Kim YJ, Kim HS, Chae SC, Oh BH, Lee MM, Ryu KH, Korean Heart Failure R. Gender Difference in the Prognostic Value of N-Terminal Pro-B Type Natriuretic Peptide in Patients With Heart Failure- A Report From the Korean Heart Failure Registry (KorHF). *Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society* 2017; 81(9): 1329-1336.
- Christ M, Laule-Kilian K, Hochholzer W, Klima T, Breidthardt T, Perruchoud AP, Mueller C. Gender-specific risk stratification with B-type natriuretic peptide levels in patients with acute dyspnea: insights from the B-type natriuretic peptide for acute shortness of breath evaluation study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 48(9): 1808-1812.

- 90. Clark AL, Fonarow GC, Horwich TB. Obesity and the obesity paradox in heart failure. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases* 2014; **56**(4): 409-414.
- Rawshani A, Rawshani A, Franzen S, Sattar N, Eliasson B, Svensson AM, Zethelius B, Miftaraj M, McGuire DK, Rosengren A, Gudbjornsdottir S. Risk Factors, Mortality, and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *The New England journal of medicine* 2018; **379**(7): 633-644.
- 92. Packer M. Derangements in adrenergic-adipokine signalling establish a neurohormonal basis for obesity-related heart failure with a preserved ejection fraction. *European journal of heart failure* 2018; **20**(5): 873-878.
- 93. Madamanchi C, Alhosaini H, Sumida A, Runge MS. Obesity and natriuretic peptides, BNP and NT-proBNP: mechanisms and diagnostic implications for heart failure. *International journal of cardiology* 2014; **176**(3): 611-617.
- Nayyar M, Lastra G, Acevedo CM. Mineralocorticoids and Cardiovascular Disease in Females with Insulin Resistance and Obesity. *Current hypertension reports* 2018; 20(10): 88.
- 95. Savastano S, Di Somma C, Barrea L, Colao A. The complex relationship between obesity and the somatropic axis: the long and winding road. *Growth hormone & IGF research : official journal of the Growth Hormone Research Society and the International IGF Research Society* 2014; **24**(6): 221-226.
- Kenchaiah S, Evans JC, Levy D, Wilson PW, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Kannel WB, Vasan RS. Obesity and the risk of heart failure. *The New England journal of medicine* 2002; 347(5): 305-313.
- 97. Oreopoulos A, Padwal R, Kalantar-Zadeh K, Fonarow GC, Norris CM, McAlister FA. Body mass index and mortality in heart failure: a meta-analysis. *American heart journal* 2008; **156**(1): 13-22.
- 98. Konishi M, von Haehling S. The need for re-defining cut-off values in heart failure: From obesity to iron deficiency. *Experimental gerontology* 2017; **87**(Pt A): 1-7.
- 99. Bach LA. Endothelial cells and the IGF system. *Journal of molecular endocrinology* 2015; **54**(1): R1-13.
- 100. Arcopinto M, Bobbio E, Bossone E, Perrone-Filardi P, Napoli R, Sacca L, Cittadini A. The GH/IGF-1 axis in chronic heart failure. *Endocrine, metabolic & immune disorders drug targets* 2013; **13**(1): 76-91.
- 101. Lund LH, Freda P, Williams JJ, LaManca JJ, LeJemtel TH, Mancini DM. Growth hormone resistance in severe heart failure resolves after cardiac transplantation. *European journal of heart failure* 2009; **11**(5): 525-528.
- Al-Obaidi MK, Hon JK, Stubbs PJ, Barnes J, Amersey RA, Dahdal M, Laycock JF, Noble MI, Alaghband-Zadeh J. Plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 elevated in mild-to-moderate but not severe heart failure. *American heart journal* 2001; **142**(6): E10.
- Arcopinto M, Isgaard J, Marra AM, Formisano P, Bossone E, Vriz O, Vigorito C, Sacca L, Douglas PS, Cittadini A. IGF-1 predicts survival in chronic heart failure. Insights from the T.O.S.CA. (Trattamento Ormonale Nello Scompenso CArdiaco) registry. *International journal of cardiology* 2014; **176**(3): 1006-1008.
- 104. Jankowska EA, Biel B, Majda J, Szklarska A, Lopuszanska M, Medras M, Anker SD, Banasiak W, Poole-Wilson PA, Ponikowski P. Anabolic deficiency in men with chronic heart failure: prevalence and detrimental impact on survival. *Circulation* 2006; **114**(17): 1829-1837.

- 105. Niebauer J, Pflaum CD, Clark AL, Strasburger CJ, Hooper J, Poole-Wilson PA, Coats AJ, Anker SD. Deficient insulin-like growth factor I in chronic heart failure predicts altered body composition, anabolic deficiency, cytokine and neurohormonal activation. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 32(2): 393-397.
- 106. Isgaard J, Arcopinto M, Karason K, Cittadini A. GH and the cardiovascular system: an update on a topic at heart. *Endocrine* 2014.
- Baxter RC. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-binding proteins: interactions with IGFs and intrinsic bioactivities. *American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism* 2000; 278(6): E967-976.
- 108. Lee PD, Giudice LC, Conover CA, Powell DR. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1: recent findings and new directions. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine* 1997; **216**(3): 319-357.
- 109. Hong Y, Brismar K, Hall K, Pedersen NL, de Faire U. Associations between insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I), IGF-binding protein-1, insulin and other metabolic measures after controlling for genetic influences: results from middle-aged and elderly monozygotic twins. *The Journal of endocrinology* 1997; **153**(2): 251-257.
- 110. Wheatcroft SB, Kearney MT. IGF-dependent and IGF-independent actions of IGF-binding protein-1 and -2: implications for metabolic homeostasis. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 2009; **20**(4): 153-162.
- 111. Kaplan RC, McGinn AP, Pollak MN, Kuller L, Strickler HD, Rohan TE, Cappola AR, Xue X, Psaty BM. High insulinlike growth factor binding protein 1 level predicts incident congestive heart failure in the elderly. *American heart journal* 2008; **155**(6): 1006-1012.
- 112. Fernqvist-Forbes E, Hilding A, Ekberg K, Brismar K. Influence of circulating epinephrine and norepinephrine on insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 in humans. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1997; **82**(8): 2677-2680.
- 113. Catrina SB, Rotarus R, Botusan IR, Coculescu M, Brismar K. Desmopressin increases IGFbinding protein-1 in humans. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 2008; **158**(4): 479-482.
- 114. Lang CH, Nystrom GJ, Frost RA. Regulation of IGF binding protein-1 in hep G2 cells by cytokines and reactive oxygen species. *The American journal of physiology* 1999; **276**(3 Pt 1): G719-727.
- 115. Saeki H, Hamada M, Hiwada K. Circulating levels of insulin-like growth factor-1 and its binding proteins in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society* 2002; **66**(7): 639-644.
- 116. Janszky I, Hallqvist J, Ljung R, Hammar N. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 is a long-term predictor of heart failure in survivors of a first acute myocardial infarction and population controls. *International journal of cardiology* 2010; **138**(1): 50-55.
- Ghantous CM, Azrak Z, Hanache S, Abou-Kheir W, Zeidan A. Differential Role of Leptin and Adiponectin in Cardiovascular System. *International journal of endocrinology* 2015; 2015: 534320.
- 118. Andreasson AN, Unden AL, Elofsson S, Brismar K. Leptin and adiponectin: distribution and associations with cardiovascular risk factors in men and women of the general population. *American journal of human biology : the official journal of the Human Biology Council* 2012; **24**(5): 595-601.

- 119. Lund LH, Freda P, Williams JJ, LaManca JJ, LeJemtel TH, Mancini DM. Leptin resistance after heart transplantation. *European journal of heart failure* 2010; **12**(5): 516-520.
- 120. Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG, Whincup PH, Lennon L, Papacosta O, Sattar N. The obesity paradox in men with coronary heart disease and heart failure: the role of muscle mass and leptin. *International journal of cardiology* 2014; **171**(1): 49-55.
- 121. Szabo T, Scherbakov N, Sandek A, Kung T, von Haehling S, Lainscak M, Jankowska EA, Rudovich N, Anker SD, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A, Pfeiffer AF, Doehner W. Plasma adiponectin in heart failure with and without cachexia: catabolic signal linking catabolism, symptomatic status, and prognosis. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases* : *NMCD* 2014; **24**(1): 50-56.
- 122. Dong M, Ren J. What fans the fire: insights into mechanisms of leptin in metabolic syndrome-associated heart diseases. *Current pharmaceutical design* 2014; **20**(4): 652-658.
- 123. Procopio C, Andreozzi F, Laratta E, Cassese A, Beguinot F, Arturi F, Hribal ML, Perticone F, Sesti G. Leptin-stimulated endothelial nitric-oxide synthase via an adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase/Akt signaling pathway is attenuated by interaction with C-reactive protein. *Endocrinology* 2009; **150**(8): 3584-3593.
- 124. Doehner W, Pflaum CD, Rauchhaus M, Godsland IF, Egerer K, Cicoira M, Florea VG, Sharma R, Bolger AP, Coats AJ, Anker SD, Strasburger CJ. Leptin, insulin sensitivity and growth hormone binding protein in chronic heart failure with and without cardiac cachexia. *European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 2001; **145**(6): 727-735.
- 125. Singhal A, Farooqi IS, Cole TJ, O'Rahilly S, Fewtrell M, Kattenhorn M, Lucas A, Deanfield J. Influence of leptin on arterial distensibility: a novel link between obesity and cardiovascular disease? *Circulation* 2002; **106**(15): 1919-1924.
- 126. Fontes-Carvalho R, Pimenta J, Bettencourt P, Leite-Moreira A, Azevedo A. Association between plasma leptin and adiponectin levels and diastolic function in the general population. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets* 2015: 1-9.
- 127. Puurunen VP, Lepojarvi ES, Piira OP, Hedberg P, Junttila MJ, Ukkola O, Huikuri HV. High plasma leptin levels are associated with impaired diastolic function in patients with coronary artery disease. *Peptides* 2016.
- Karmazyn M, Rajapurohitam V. Leptin as a cardiac pro-hypertrophic factor and its potential role in the development of heart failure. *Current pharmaceutical design* 2014; 20(4): 646-651.
- 129. Packer M. Leptin-Aldosterone-Neprilysin Axis: Identification of Its Distinctive Role in the Pathogenesis of the Three Phenotypes of Heart Failure in People With Obesity. *Circulation* 2018; **137**(15): 1614-1631.
- 130. Tanaka K, Wilson RM, Essick EE, Duffen JL, Scherer PE, Ouchi N, Sam F. Effects of Adiponectin on Calcium Handling Proteins in Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Circulation Heart failure* 2014.
- O'Shea KM, Chess DJ, Khairallah RJ, Rastogi S, Hecker PA, Sabbah HN, Walsh K, Stanley WC. Effects of adiponectin deficiency on structural and metabolic remodeling in mice subjected to pressure overload. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology* 2010; 298(6): H1639-1645.

- 132. Negi SI, Jeong EM, Shukrullah I, Raicu M, Dudley SC, Jr. Association of low plasma adiponectin with early diastolic dysfunction. *Congestive heart failure* 2012; **18**(4): 187-191.
- Fukuta H, Ohte N, Wakami K, Goto T, Tani T, Kimura G. Relation of plasma levels of adiponectin to left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in patients undergoing cardiac catheterization for coronary artery disease. *The American journal of cardiology* 2011; 108(8): 1081-1085.
- 134. Persson J, Folkersen L, Ekstrand J, Helleberg J, Gabrielsen A, Lundman P, Hedin U, Paulsson-Berne G. High plasma adiponectin concentration is associated with all-cause mortality in patients with carotid atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 2012; **225**(2): 491-496.
- 135. George J, Patal S, Wexler D, Sharabi Y, Peleg E, Kamari Y, Grossman E, Sheps D, Keren G, Roth A. Circulating adiponectin concentrations in patients with congestive heart failure. *Heart* 2006; **92**(10): 1420-1424.
- 136. Nakamura T, Funayama H, Kubo N, Yasu T, Kawakami M, Saito M, Momomura S, Ishikawa SE. Association of hyperadiponectinemia with severity of ventricular dysfunction in congestive heart failure. *Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society* 2006; **70**(12): 1557-1562.
- 137. Kistorp C, Faber J, Galatius S, Gustafsson F, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A, Hildebrandt P. Plasma adiponectin, body mass index, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation* 2005; **112**(12): 1756-1762.
- 138. Tsukamoto O, Fujita M, Kato M, Yamazaki S, Asano Y, Ogai A, Okazaki H, Asai M, Nagamachi Y, Maeda N, Shintani Y, Minamino T, Asakura M, Kishimoto I, Funahashi T, Tomoike H, Kitakaze M. Natriuretic peptides enhance the production of adiponectin in human adipocytes and in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009; 53(22): 2070-2077.
- 139. Wang Y, Gao E, Lau WB, Wang Y, Liu G, Li JJ, Wang X, Yuan Y, Koch WJ, Ma XL. G-proteincoupled receptor kinase 2-mediated desensitization of adiponectin receptor 1 in failing heart. *Circulation* 2015; **131**(16): 1392-1404.
- 140. Donal E, Lund LH, Linde C, Edner M, Lafitte S, Persson H, Bauer F, Ohrvik J, Ennezat PV, Hage C, Lofman I, Juilliere Y, Logeart D, Derumeaux G, Gueret P, Daubert JC. Rationale and design of the Karolinska-Rennes (KaRen) prospective study of dyssynchrony in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *European journal of heart failure* 2009; 11(2): 198-204.
- 141. Unden AL, Elofsson S, Brismar K. Gender differences in the relation of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 to cardiovascular risk factors: a population-based study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* 2005; **63**(1): 94-102.
- 142. Jonsson A, Edner M, Alehagen U, Dahlstrom U. Heart failure registry: a valuable tool for improving the management of patients with heart failure. *European journal of heart failure* 2010; **12**(1): 25-31.
- 143. Brooks R. EuroQol: the current state of play. *Health Policy* 1996; **37**(1): 53-72.
- 144. Szende A, Janssen B, Cabases J. *Self-reported population health [Elektronisk resurs] : an International perspective based on EQ-5D.* Springer Netherlands :: Dordrecht, 2014.
- 145. EuroQol G. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. *Health Policy* 1990; **16**(3): 199-208.

- 146. Rector TS, Cohn JN. Assessment of patient outcome with the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire: reliability and validity during a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of pimobendan. Pimobendan Multicenter Research Group. *American heart journal* 1992; **124**(4): 1017-1025.
- 147. International Health Related Quality of Life Databases Programme, 2017 pp. IQOD -Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire User Manual.
- 148. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* 2013; **310**(20): 2191-2194.
- 149. Hilding A, Hall K, Wivall-Helleryd IL, Saaf M, Melin AL, Thoren M. Serum levels of insulin-like growth factor I in 152 patients with growth hormone deficiency, aged 19-82 years, in relation to those in healthy subjects. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 1999; **84**(6): 2013-2019.
- 150. Lam CS, Lund LH. Microvascular endothelial dysfunction in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Heart* 2016; **102**(4): 257-259.
- 151. Isgaard J, Arcopinto M, Karason K, Cittadini A. GH and the cardiovascular system: an update on a topic at heart. *Endocrine* 2015; **48**(1): 25-35.
- 152. Arcopinto M, Cittadini A. Hormonal alterations in heart failure: anabolic impairment in chronic heart failure diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic issues. *Frontiers of hormone research* 2014; **43**: 57-69.
- 153. Piccioli L, Arcopinto M, Salzano A, D'Assante R, Schiavo A, Stagnaro FM, Lombardi A, Panicara V, Valente P, Vitale G, Sarullo FM, Giallauria F, Marra AM. The impairment of the Growth Hormone/Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) axis in heart failure: A possible target for future therapy. *Monaldi archives for chest disease = Archivio Monaldi per le malattie del torace* 2018; 88(3): 975.
- 154. Salzano A, Marra AM, Ferrara F, Arcopinto M, Bobbio E, Valente P, Polizzi R, De Vincentiis C, Matarazzo M, Saldamarco L, Sacca F, Napoli R, Monti MG, D'Assante R, Isidori AM, Isgaard J, Ferrara N, Filardi PP, Perticone F, Vigorito C, Bossone E, Cittadini A, investigators TOSC. Multiple hormone deficiency syndrome in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *International journal of cardiology* 2016; **225:** 1-3.
- 155. Harrela M, Koistinen R, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A, Seppala M. Low serum insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 is associated with an unfavourable cardiovascular risk profile in elderly men. *Annals of medicine* 2000; **32**(6): 424-428.
- 156. Lehtihet M, Jörneskog G, Alvarsson M, Båvenholm P, Katz A, Efendic S, Östenson C-G, Kuhl J, Brismar K. Low IGFBP-1 is a marker of impaired skin vascular response to both endothelial and non-endothelial stimulation in healthy males. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews* 2009; **3**(2): 103-108.
- 157. Aziz A, Haywood NJ, Cordell PA, Smith J, Yuldasheva NY, Sengupta A, Ali N, Mercer BN, Mughal RS, Riches K, Cubbon RM, Porter KE, Kearney MT, Wheatcroft SB. Insulinlike Growth Factor-Binding Protein-1 Improves Vascular Endothelial Repair in Male Mice in the Setting of Insulin Resistance. *Endocrinology* 2018; **159**(2): 696-709.
- 158. Rajwani A, Ezzat V, Smith J, Yuldasheva NY, Duncan ER, Gage M, Cubbon RM, Kahn MB, Imrie H, Abbas A, Viswambharan H, Aziz A, Sukumar P, Vidal-Puig A, Sethi JK, Xuan S, Shah AM, Grant PJ, Porter KE, Kearney MT, Wheatcroft SB. Increasing circulating IGFBP1 levels improves insulin sensitivity, promotes nitric oxide production, lowers blood pressure, and protects against atherosclerosis. *Diabetes* 2012; **61**(4): 915-924.

- 159. Brismar K, Hilding A, Lindgren B. Regulation of IGFBP-1 in humans. *Progress in growth factor research* 1995; 6(2-4): 449-456.
- 160. Lewitt MS, Dent MS, Hall K. The Insulin-Like Growth Factor System in Obesity, Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *J Clin Med* 2014; **3**(4): 1561-1574.
- 161. Harrela M, Qiao Q, Koistinen R, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A, Seppala M, Leinonen P. High serum insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 is associated with increased cardiovascular mortality in elderly men. *Hormone and metabolic research = Hormonund Stoffwechselforschung = Hormones et metabolisme* 2002; **34**(3): 144-149.
- 162. Chiba A, Watanabe-Takano H, Miyazaki T, Mochizuki N. Cardiomyokines from the heart. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 2018; **75**(8): 1349-1362.
- 163. Meirovich YF, Veinot JP, de Bold ML, Haddad H, Davies RA, Masters RG, Hendry PJ, de Bold AJ. Relationship between natriuretic peptides and inflammation: proteomic evidence obtained during acute cellular cardiac allograft rejection in humans. *The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation* 2008; **27**(1): 31-37.
- 164. Brankovic M, Akkerhuis KM, Mouthaan H, Brugts JJ, Manintveld OC, van Ramshorst J, Germans T, Umans V, Boersma E, Kardys I. Cardiometabolic biomarkers and their temporal patterns predict poor outcome in chronic heart failure (Bio-SHiFT study). *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2018.
- 165. Powell-Wiley TM, Ngwa J, Kebede S, Lu D, Schulte PJ, Bhatt DL, Yancy C, Fonarow GC, Albert MA. Impact of Body Mass Index on Heart Failure by Race/Ethnicity From the Get With The Guidelines-Heart Failure (GWTG-HF) Registry. *JACC Heart failure* 2018; **6**(3): 233-242.
- 166. Sente T, Van Berendoncks AM, Hoymans VY, Vrints CJ. Adiponectin resistance in skeletal muscle: pathophysiological implications in chronic heart failure. *Journal of cachexia, sarcopenia and muscle* 2016; **7**(3): 261-274.
- 167. Tsutamoto T, Tanaka T, Sakai H, Ishikawa C, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, Horie M. Total and high molecular weight adiponectin, haemodynamics, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. *European heart journal* 2007; **28**(14): 1723-1730.
- Lindberg S, Jensen JS, Bjerre M, Pedersen SH, Frystyk J, Flyvbjerg A, Mogelvang R. Cardio-adipose tissue cross-talk: relationship between adiponectin, plasma pro brain natriuretic peptide and incident heart failure. *European journal of heart failure* 2014; 16(6): 633-638.
- 169. Masuch A, Pietzner M, Bahls M, Budde K, Kastenmuller G, Zylla S, Artati A, Adamski J, Volzke H, Dorr M, Felix SB, Nauck M, Friedrich N. Metabolomic profiling implicates adiponectin as mediator of a favorable lipoprotein profile associated with NT-proBNP. *Cardiovascular diabetology* 2018; **17**(1): 120.
- 170. O'Connor CM, Starling RC, Hernandez AF, Armstrong PW, Dickstein K, Hasselblad V, Heizer GM, Komajda M, Massie BM, McMurray JJ, Nieminen MS, Reist CJ, Rouleau JL, Swedberg K, Adams KF, Jr., Anker SD, Atar D, Battler A, Botero R, Bohidar NR, Butler J, Clausell N, Corbalan R, Costanzo MR, Dahlstrom U, Deckelbaum LI, Diaz R, Dunlap ME, Ezekowitz JA, Feldman D, Felker GM, Fonarow GC, Gennevois D, Gottlieb SS, Hill JA, Hollander JE, Howlett JG, Hudson MP, Kociol RD, Krum H, Laucevicius A, Levy WC, Mendez GF, Metra M, Mittal S, Oh BH, Pereira NL, Ponikowski P, Tang WH, Tanomsup S, Teerlink JR, Triposkiadis F, Troughton RW, Voors AA, Whellan DJ, Zannad F, Califf RM. Effect of nesiritide in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. *The New England journal of medicine* 2011; **365**(1): 32-43.

- 171. Daniels LB, Clopton P, Bhalla V, Krishnaswamy P, Nowak RM, McCord J, Hollander JE, Duc P, Omland T, Storrow AB, Abraham WT, Wu AH, Steg PG, Westheim A, Knudsen CW, Perez A, Kazanegra R, Herrmann HC, McCullough PA, Maisel AS. How obesity affects the cut-points for B-type natriuretic peptide in the diagnosis of acute heart failure. Results from the Breathing Not Properly Multinational Study. *American heart journal* 2006; 151(5): 999-1005.
- 172. Sarzani R, Marcucci P, Salvi F, Bordicchia M, Espinosa E, Mucci L, Lorenzetti B, Minardi D, Muzzonigro G, Dessi-Fulgheri P, Rappelli A. Angiotensin II stimulates and atrial natriuretic peptide inhibits human visceral adipocyte growth. *International journal of obesity (2005)* 2008; **32**(2): 259-267.
- 173. Sarzani R, Salvi F, Dessi-Fulgheri P, Rappelli A. Renin-angiotensin system, natriuretic peptides, obesity, metabolic syndrome, and hypertension: an integrated view in humans. *Journal of hypertension* 2008; **26**(5): 831-843.
- 174. Tanaka K, Wilson RM, Essick EE, Duffen JL, Scherer PE, Ouchi N, Sam F. Effects of adiponectin on calcium-handling proteins in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Circulation Heart failure* 2014; **7**(6): 976-985.
- 175. Francisco C, Neves JS, Falcao-Pires I, Leite-Moreira A. Can Adiponectin Help us to Target Diastolic Dysfunction? *Cardiovascular drugs and therapy* 2016; **30**(6): 635-644.
- 176. Choi SR, Lim JH, Kim MY, Kim EN, Kim Y, Choi BS, Kim YS, Kim HW, Lim KM, Kim MJ, Park CW. Adiponectin receptor agonist AdipoRon decreased ceramide, and lipotoxicity, and ameliorated diabetic nephropathy. *Metabolism: clinical and experimental* 2018; **85**: 348-360.
- 177. Anand IS, Claggett B, Liu J, Shah AM, Rector TS, Shah SJ, Desai AS, O'Meara E, Fleg JL, Pfeffer MA, Pitt B, Solomon SD. Interaction Between Spironolactone and Natriuretic Peptides in Patients With Heart Failure and Preserved Ejection Fraction: From the TOPCAT Trial. *JACC Heart failure* 2017; **5**(4): 241-252.
- 178. Custodio JS, Jr., Duraes AR, Abreu M, Albuquerque Rocha N, Roever L. SGLT2 inhibition and heart failure-current concepts. *Heart Fail Rev* 2018; **23**(3): 409-418.
- 179. Fitchett D, Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Hantel S, Salsali A, Johansen OE, Woerle HJ, Broedl UC, Inzucchi SE. Heart failure outcomes with empagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes at high cardiovascular risk: results of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME(R) trial. *European heart journal* 2016; **37**(19): 1526-1534.
- 180. Altara R, Giordano M, Norden ES, Cataliotti A, Kurdi M, Bajestani SN, Booz GW. Targeting Obesity and Diabetes to Treat Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Frontiers in endocrinology* 2017; **8:** 160.
- 181. Packer M. Do sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 inhibitors prevent heart failure with a preserved ejection fraction by counterbalancing the effects of leptin? A novel hypothesis. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 2018; **20**(6): 1361-1366.
- 182. Juenger J, Schellberg D, Kraemer S, Haunstetter A, Zugck C, Herzog W, Haass M. Health related quality of life in patients with congestive heart failure: comparison with other chronic diseases and relation to functional variables. *Heart* 2002; **87**(3): 235-241.
- 183. Lewis EF, Johnson PA, Johnson W, Collins C, Griffin L, Stevenson LW. Preferences for quality of life or survival expressed by patients with heart failure. *The Journal of heart and lung transplantation : the official publication of the International Society for Heart Transplantation* 2001; **20**(9): 1016-1024.

- 184. Kraai IH, Vermeulen KM, Luttik ML, Hoekstra T, Jaarsma T, Hillege HL. Preferences of heart failure patients in daily clinical practice: quality of life or longevity? *European journal of heart failure* 2013; **15**(10): 1113-1121.
- Brunner-La Rocca HP, Rickenbacher P, Muzzarelli S, Schindler R, Maeder MT, Jeker U, Kiowski W, Leventhal ME, Pfister O, Osswald S, Pfisterer ME, Rickli H. End-of-life preferences of elderly patients with chronic heart failure. *European heart journal* 2012; 33(6): 752-759.
- 186. Meyer S, Teerlink JR, Metra M, Ponikowski P, Cotter G, Davison BA, Felker GM, Filippatos G, Greenberg BH, Hua TA, Severin T, Qian M, Voors AA. Sex differences in early dyspnea relief between men and women hospitalized for acute heart failure: insights from the RELAX-AHF study. *Clin Res Cardiol* 2017; **106**(4): 280-292.
- 187. Lawson CA, Solis-Trapala I, Dahlstrom U, Mamas M, Jaarsma T, Kadam UT, Stromberg A. Comorbidity health pathways in heart failure patients: A sequences-of-regressions analysis using cross-sectional data from 10,575 patients in the Swedish Heart Failure Registry. *PLoS medicine* 2018; **15**(3): e1002540.
- 188. Iqbal J, Francis L, Reid J, Murray S, Denvir M. Quality of life in patients with chronic heart failure and their carers: a 3-year follow-up study assessing hospitalization and mortality. *European journal of heart failure* 2010; **12**(9): 1002-1008.
- 189. Borlaug BA. Sex, load, and relaxation: are women more susceptible to load-dependent diastolic dysfunction? *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2011; **57**(10): 1234-1236.
- 190. Bidlingmaier M, Friedrich N, Emeny RT, Spranger J, Wolthers OD, Roswall J, Korner A, Obermayer-Pietsch B, Hubener C, Dahlgren J, Frystyk J, Pfeiffer AF, Doering A, Bielohuby M, Wallaschofski H, Arafat AM. Reference intervals for insulin-like growth factor-1 (igf-i) from birth to senescence: results from a multicenter study using a new automated chemiluminescence IGF-I immunoassay conforming to recent international recommendations. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2014; **99**(5): 1712-1721.
- 191. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, Leip EP, Benjamin EJ, Wilson PW, Sutherland P, Omland T, Vasan RS. Impact of age and sex on plasma natriuretic peptide levels in healthy adults. *The American journal of cardiology* 2002; **90**(3): 254-258.
- 192. Shah AM, Claggett B, Sweitzer NK, Shah SJ, Anand IS, O'Meara E, Desai AS, Heitner JF, Li G, Fang J, Rouleau J, Zile MR, Markov V, Ryabov V, Reis G, Assmann SF, McKinlay SM, Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Solomon SD. Cardiac structure and function and prognosis in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: findings from the echocardiographic study of the Treatment of Preserved Cardiac Function Heart Failure with an Aldosterone Antagonist (TOPCAT) Trial. *Circulation Heart failure* 2014; **7**(5): 740-751.